
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, (01254) 380116/380136/380184 
Email: memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Wednesday, 23 June 2021 

Page 1 of 3  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Council 
 
Thursday, 1 July 2021 at 7.00 pm, 
Ballroom, Town Hall, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Councillor Kath Pratt (Mayor) in the Chair,  
Councillors Judith Addison, Dominik Allen, Josh Allen, Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, 
Peter Britcliffe, Andrew Clegg, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Diane Fielding, 
Melissa Fisher, June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, Carole Haythornthwaite, 
Eamonn Higgins, Michael Hindley, Terry Hurn, Abdul Khan, Chris Knight, Sajid Mahmood, 
Patrick McGinley, Michael Miller, Jenny Molineux, Caroline Montague, Tim O'Kane, Dave Parkins, 
Bernadette Parkinson, Miles Parkinson OBE, Joyce Plummer, Paddy Short, Steven Smithson and 
Kate Walsh 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Announcements   
 
a) Mayor 
 
b) Leader of the Council 
 
c) Chief Executive 
 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes  (Pages 5 - 12) 
 
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the Annual Council meeting held on 20th 
May 2021 (attached). 
 

5.   Question Time   
 
To deal with any questions submitted under Council Procedure Rule A2.2(vi). 
 

6.   Change of Appointments to Audit Committee   
 
To consider a recent request from the Conservative Group to change one of their two 
nominees appointed to the Audit Committee in 2021/22, so as to replace Councillor Josh 
Allen with Councillor Dominik Allen, with immediate effect. 
 
The Council is invited to approve the request. 
 

7.   Initial Proposal for the New Parliamentary Constituency Boundary Review 2023 for 
Hyndburn  (Pages 13 - 20) 
 
Report attached. 
 

8.   COVID-19 National Non Domestic Rates Reliefs for 2021/22  (Pages 21 - 48) 
 
Report attached. 
 

9.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 49 - 78) 
 
To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet meetings held on 17th March and 9th June 2021 
(attached). 
 
Rules of Debate 
 

 The Leader of the Council will move the Minutes, the Deputy Leader of the 
Council will second the Minutes. 

 Non-executive Members will be invited to make comment or ask questions on the 
Minutes (5 Minutes). 

 Cabinet Members will be invited to make comments and respond to any points 
raised (5 Minutes). 

 The Leader of the Council will be given up to 15 Minutes to respond and to 
answer any questions raised. 

 

10.   Minutes of Committees  (Pages 79 - 100) 
 
To receive the Minutes of committees, as set out below: 
 
Rules of Debate 





 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 The Leader of the Council will introduce the Minutes as a whole. 

 Any Member may raise any issue from the Minutes; the Chair of the relevant 

 Committee may respond (5 Minutes). 

 The Leader of the Council will close the debate (5 Minutes). 
 

Meeting (Municipal Year 2020/22) Date 

Standards Committee 15th October 2020 

Judicial (Private Hire and Hackney Carriage 
Licensing) Committee 

13th January 2021 

Planning Committee 24th February 2021 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

17th Match 2021 

Cabinet (Street Naming) Committee 17th March 2021 

Planning Committee 24th March 2021 
 

11.   Motion(s) submitted on Notice  (Pages 101 - 102) 
 
Report attached. 
 

 
 
 

 
Chief Executive 
Scaitcliffe House, 
Ormerod Street, 
ACCRINGTON BB5 OPF 
 
Wednesday, 23 June 2021 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Thursday, 20th May, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillors Judith Addison, Dominik Allen, Mohammad Ayub, 

Noordad Aziz, Peter Britcliffe, Andrew Clegg, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, 
Munsif Dad BEM JP, Diane Fielding, Melissa Fisher, June Harrison, 
Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, Carole Haythornthwaite, 
Eamonn Higgins, Michael Hindley, Terry Hurn, Abdul Khan, Chris Knight, 
Sajid Mahmood, Patrick McGinley, Michael Miller, Jenny Molineux, 
Caroline Montague, Tim O'Kane, Dave Parkins, Bernadette Parkinson, 
Miles Parkinson OBE, Joyce Plummer, Kath Pratt, Paddy Short, 
Steven Smithson and Kate Walsh 
 

Apologies: Councillors Josh Allen 

  

 
The meeting was opened by the retiring Mayor, Councillor June Harrison. 

 
1 Election of Mayor 2021/22 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Marlene Haworth and seconded by Councillor Miles 
Parkinson OBE, that Councillor Kath Pratt be elected Mayor of the Borough of Hyndburn for 
the Municipal Year 2021/22. 
 
Resolved - That, in pursuance of Section 23 of the Local 

Government Act 1972, Councillor Kath Pratt be 
elected to the Office of Mayor of the Borough of 
Hyndburn for the Municipal Year 2021/22.  

 
The retiring Mayor, Councillor June Harrison and the newly-elected Mayor, Councillor Kath 
Pratt left the meeting.  
 
Following a short adjournment, Councillor Pratt took her place in the Mayor’s Seat and the 
retiring Mayor attached the Mayoral Fob to the Chain now worn by the newly-elected 
Mayor.  She also presented the new Mayor with a bouquet of flowers.  Councillor Pratt then 
read and signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office of Mayor. 
 
Mr David Welsby, Chief Executive, indicated that, due to the pandemic, instead of a Mayor 
Making Council meeting taking place within the next few days, a ceremonial event would be 
held later in the year to welcome the new Mayor. 
 

2 Election of Deputy Mayor 2021/22 
 
The Mayor invited nominations for the election of Deputy Mayor of the Borough of 
Hyndburn for the Municipal Year 2021/22.  It was proposed by Councillor Miles Parkinson 
OBE and seconded by Councillor Marlene Haworth that Councillor Abdul Khan be elected 
to the Office of Deputy Mayor. 
 
Resolved - That, in pursuance of Section 23 of the Local 

Government Act 1972, Councillor Abdul Khan be 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

elected to the Office of Deputy Mayor of the Borough 
of Hyndburn for the Municipal Year 2021/22.  

 
Councillor Khan read and signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office of Deputy Mayor. 
 

3 Apologies for absence 
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Josh Allen. 
 

4 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no declarations of interest or dispensations submitted. 
 

5 Announcements 
 
 
(a) Votes of Thanks 
 
The Leader of the Council, Miles Parkinson OBE, thanked the retiring Mayor and Mayoress 
for their service, which had seen them carry out splendid work with numerous voluntary 
groups and associations.  The work was a joyful task and would create lasting memories.  
The mayoral year had started well, but had then been interrupted by the emergence of the 
pandemic.  Nevertheless, a large amount of funding had been raised with the support of the 
Mayoral Committee of volunteers.  The incoming Mayor would now continue this important 
work. 
 
The Leader congratulated Councillor Pratt and was confident that she would be a splendid 
ambassador for the Borough, both within Lancashire and across the rest of the country. 
 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, the retiring Mayoress, thanked the retiring Mayor and indicated 
that she had experienced a fantastic time while meeting businesses and individuals across 
the Borough.  She also thanked the Mayoral Committee. 
 
Councillor Marlene Haworth echoed the comments made by the Leader of the Council.  
She acknowledge that the Mayor and Mayoress had carried out their role with courage and 
dignity.  She praised them for their work. 
 
The Mayor presented to the retiring Mayor, Councillor June Harrison, her Past Mayor medal 
and a bouquet of flowers.  The Mayor also presented a Past Mayoress medal and bouquet 
of flowers to Councillor Joyce Plummer. 
 
Councillor Harrison thanked the members of her Mayoral Committee, without whom the 
Mayor’s Charity would have been unable to raise the amount of money it had achieved. 
 
The Mayor gave a vote of thanks to the retiring Mayor, citing her dignity and enthusiasm, as 
well as her success in raising awareness of key issues and as an ambassador for the 
Borough.   She also thanked the Mayoress who, despite of a serious injury early in her role, 
had persevered with her duties.  Both office-holders were a credit to Hyndburn and had 
carried on their work into a second term of office due to COVID 19.  The Mayor indicated 
that it was a pleasure to take on board the role and she expressed a sincere hope that she 
would be able to follow the example of her predecessor. 
 
(b) Thanks to Council Staff 
 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
3 

The Leader of the Council announced that he wished to acknowledge the hard work of all 
Council departments during the pandemic of the last 12 months.  He would be pleased to 
give something back to the staff who had worked so hard.  Accordingly, full time staff would 
receive an extra two days leave in 2021/22, with a pro rata amount for part time staff. 
 
(c) Israel and Palestine 
 
The Leader referred to the current escalation of violence in Israel and Palestine and 
expressed a desire for the hostilities to come to an end and for basic humanity to prevail.  
The current situation had resulted in unacceptable loss of life. 
 
(d) Welcome to New Councillors 
 
The Leader welcomed the newly elected councillors to Hyndburn Council and their first 
meeting. 
 
(e) Leadership Decision 
 
Councillor Parkinson OBE expressed gratitude that his position as Leader of the Labour 
Group and Leader of the Council had recently been confirmed.   He was now looking 
forward to working with all partners across the Borough. 
 
(f) Public Interest Statement 
 
The Leader reported that an allegation had been brought to his attention that at the Election 
Count an approach had been made to an existing councillor to join the Labour party and 
that the individual had been offered a role as a committee chair in exchange for joining the 
party and voting for Melissa Fisher in the Labour leadership contest.  The Leader 
considered that the allegation was of a serious nature and should be investigated as this 
could have undermined the leadership decision.  In addition, since the position of 
committee chair attracted a special responsibility allowance he considered it important to 
refer the matter for further investigation in order to determine whether this might constitute 
an improper financial inducement.  The Leader indicated that he would raise matters within 
the Labour party and called for his concerns to be referred to the appropriate authorities for 
further investigation. 
  
Councillor Patrick McGinley indicated that he was the councillor approached to join the 
Labour party and made a statement in which he set out the circumstances of the alleged 
incident.  He confirmed that, after considering the matter, he had declined the offer made to 
him.  He indicated that he would be prepared to make a full statement to any investigation. 
  
Councillor Melissa Fisher stated that the allegation had come as a shock to her and 
stressed that she had no knowledge of any offers made to individuals to secure support in 
the Labour Leadership contest.   
 

6 Confirmation of Minutes 
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 26th March 2021 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes of the Council meeting held on the 

26th March 2021 be approved as a correct record.  
 

7 Declaration of the Returning Officer for the Local Elections on 6th May 2021 
 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
4 

The declaration of the Returning Officer of those elected at the local elections held on 6th 
May 2021 was submitted as follows:- 
 

Electoral Ward Name and Address of 
Elected Councillor 

 

Party 

Altham Dominik Allen 
26 Moorfield Drive,  
Clayton-le-Moors, 
Accrington, BB5 5WG 

Conservative 

Barnfield Caroline Montague 
61 Avenue Parade  
Accrington, BB5 6PN   

Labour 

Baxenden Terry Hurn 
64 Oakwood Road 
Baxenden  
Accrington, BB5 2PG 

Conservative 

Central Abdul Khan 
29 Lister Street 
Accrington, BB5 1TA 

Labour 

Church Sajid Mahmood 
20 Portland Street,  
Accrington, BB5 1RH 

Conservative 

Netherton Noordad Aziz 
14 Greaves Street 
Great Harwood, BB6 7DY 

Labour & Co-operative 

Overton Michael Hindley 
27 Commercial Road 
Great Harwood, BB6 7HX 

Labour & Co-operative 

Peel Paddy Short 
61 Avenue Parade 
Accrington, BB5 6PN 

Labour 

Rishton Carole Haythornthwaite 
29 Cliffe Lane,  
Great Harwood, BB6 7PG 

Conservative 

St Andrews Peter Brittcliffe 
106 New Lane,  
Oswaldtwistle, BB5 3QW 

Conservative 

St Andrews 
(Term of Office to 2022) 

Steven Smithson 
30 Willow Park,  
Oswaldtwistle, BB5 3QY 

Conservative 

St Oswalds Susan Hayes 
Rose Cottage, High Street,  
Oswaldtwistle, BB5 0NS 

Conservative 

Spring Hill Munsif Dad BEM JP 
49 Monk Street 
Accrington, BB5 1SS 

Labour 

 
Resolved - To note the list of councillors elected on 6th May 

2021. 
 

8 Appointment of Committees, Sub-Committees, Panels and Working Groups and 
Notification of Cabinet Appointments 2021/22 
 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
5 

The Leader of the Council submitted proposals for the appointment of Committees, Sub-
Committees, Panels and Working Groups for the Municipal Year 2021/22, including the 
Terms of Reference for those bodies.  Proposals for membership of those bodies were 
tabled at the meeting. 
 
Resolved (1) That the Terms of Reference of Council, Cabinet and 

other constituted bodies as outlined in Appendices 
1 and 2 of the report be approved; the bodies listed 
at paragraph 5.1 be disestablished; and the 
Council’s Constitution (Part 3 – Responsibility or 
Functions) be amended accordingly;  

 
 (2) That the political composition of those Committees 

and Sub-Committees of the Council, as set out in 
Paragraph 4.5 of the report, be approved;  

  
 (3) That the membership of those Committees and Sub-

Committees and the proposed Chairs and Vice-
Chairs, as set out in the Appendix tabled at the 
meeting, be approved;  

 
 (4) That the membership of Panels and Working 

Groups, together with the proposed Chairs, as set 
out in the Appendix tabled at the meeting, be 
approved;  

 
 (5) That the membership of Cabinet and the allocation 

of Portfolio responsibilities for 2021/22, as set out in 
the Appendix tabled at the meeting, be noted; and,  

 
 (6) That a Councillor unable to attend a meeting of 

which he/she is a member, be authorised to appoint 
a Councillor not serving on that particular 
Committee, Sub-Committee, Panel or Working 
Group to act as a substitute in accordance with 
Council Procedure Rule A26.8. 

 
9 Appointments to Outside Bodies 

 
A report relating to the appointment of Council representatives to Outside Bodies and 
Organisations for the Municipal Year 2021/22 was submitted for approval.  The report 
included information on the bodies proposed for deletion, addition or variation in connection 
with the list.  The proposed appointments were tabled at the meeting as Appendix A to the 
report. 
 
In accordance with the Council’s Procedure Rule A1.2(x), the Council was required to 
receive nominations and make appointments to outside bodies and organisations, except 
where appointment to those bodies had been delegated by the Council or was exercisable 
only by the Executive.  
 
Resolved - That the appointments to Outside Bodies and 

Organisations for the Municipal Year 2021/22, as set out 
in Appendix A to the report as tabled at the meeting, be 
approved.  

 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
6 

10 Timetable of Meetings 2021/22 
 
The proposed Timetable of Meetings for 2021/22 was submitted for approval.  It was 
reported that the Council meeting scheduled for November 2021 should read 18th 
November (not 16th). 
 
Resolved - That, subject to the above mentioned amendment, the 

Timetable of Meetings for 2021/22 be approved.  
 

11 Nominations for the Title of Honorary Freeman 
 
A report was provided seeking approval to the conferment of the title of Honorary Freeman 
of the Borough of Hyndburn on Mr Rennie Pinder and Ms Stacy Walsh. 
 
Mr Rennie Pinder 
 
It was proposed to nominate Mr Rennie Pinder to receive the title of Honorary Freeman of 
the Borough.  Mr Pinder was a long-serving member of Altham Parish Council and had 
been the Chair of the Parish for a significant number of years, rendering eminent services 
to the parish and wider Borough of Hyndburn.   
 
Ms Stacy Walsh 
 
It was proposed to nominate Ms Stacy Walsh to receive the title of Honorary Freeman of 
the Borough.  Ms Walsh was a key figure within the Hyndburn Food Bank which worked to 
support hundreds of local residents in need and had been particularly active during the 
Coronavirus pandemic in ensuring the most vulnerable families across the Borough had 
enough food to eat and essential supplies for a daily life.  Her efforts in this voluntary role 
demonstrated that she had rendered eminent services to the Borough of Hyndburn. 
 
The title of Honorary Freeman would recognise the achievements and services of both Mr 
Pinder and Ms Walsh. 
 
A vote was then taken, which was passed by not less than two thirds of the members 
present who voted on it. 
 
Resolved (1) That in accordance with Section 249(5) of the Local 

Government Act 1972, Mr Rennie Pinder and Ms 
Stacy Walsh be conferred with the title of Honorary 
Freeman of the Borough and be presented with the 
award at the Mayor’s Celebratory Luncheon 
proposed to be held on 21st August 2021, or should 
that not prove possible due to the unavailability of 
the recipients, at some stage during the remainder 
of the Municipal Year 2021/22. 

 
(2) That the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 

Leader of the Council, be authorised to make the 
necessary arrangements. 

 
12 Record of Attendance at Council Meetings 2019/20 - 2020/21 

 
A report relating to the annual attendance of Members at Council meetings held in 2019/20 
and 2020/21 was submitted for information.  The report detailing the attendance of 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
7 

Councillors at eligible meetings of the Council was submitted each year to the Annual 
Meeting of the Council. 
 
Resolved - That the report be noted.  
 

13 Annual Review of the Planning and Licensing Codes of Practice 
 
A report seeking approval of the Planning and Licensing Codes of Practice following an 
annual review of the same was submitted.  Local Authorities were recommended, as a 
matter of good practice, to supplement their Member Code of Conduct with specific Codes 
of Practice to assist Members involved in the planning and licensing processes.  These 
were complex areas, involving quasi-judicial decision-making and the codes were designed 
to give members guidance about dealing with the difficult issues that could arise – such as 
conflicts of interest, dealing with applicants, possible bias and predetermination etc. 
 
There were only a few, minor changes to the codes proposed this year.  The changes were 
intended to: 
 

 better explain the Council’s requirements in respect of possible predetermination of 
applications; 

 make the documents clearer to read; and 

 alert members to possible predetermination issues that might arise from their use of 
social media. 

 
Following a recommendation of the Member Learning & Development Panel in 2016, 
members sitting on Planning and Licensing / Judicial Committees were required to have 
undergone training before they served on the Committee and took part in decision making. 
 
It was intended that all members serving on the Planning, Licensing and Judicial 
Committees would receive training in respect of their respective code of practice as soon as 
possible after approval of the codes of conduct.  These sessions would be as short and 
informal as possible and would be delivered by Legal Services staff and their Planning and 
Licensing colleagues at no additional cost to the Council.  
 
Resolved (1) That Council approves the planning code of practice 

and licensing code of practice as appended to the 
report; 

 
(2) That Council notes that training will be arranged for 

all members of the Planning and Licensing 
Committees in respect of their respective code of 
practice as soon as possible in the new municipal 
year. 

 
14 Review of the Constitution 

 
A report on the annual review of the Council’s written Constitution was submitted. 
 
The Council’s Constitution had been updated on a number of occasions during 2020/21 to 
take account of the ongoing Covid pandemic.  The Virtual Meeting Procedure Rules had 
been adopted, and updated several times, as the Council commenced, and became 
increasingly familiar with, virtual meetings.  The legal power to hold virtual meetings had 
now lapsed and the Virtual Meeting Procedure Rules had ceased to have effect.  
 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
8 

In 2019 the Committee of Standards In Public Life had published a report entitled “Local 
Government Ethical Standards”, which made a range of recommendations in respect of 
councillor codes of conduct.  Those recommendations were summarised in Appendix 1 to 
the report, alongside a summary of the Council’s performance against each one of them.  
Work on implementation of the various recommendations had been halted at the start of the 
Covid pandemic, when all efforts focussed on the Council’s response to the same. 
 
In June 2020 the LGA had begun work on a model code of conduct for members and this 
had now been published.  There was no national councillor code of conduct and each 
Council was able to adopt its own, leading to varying standards and expectations across 
the country.  The LGA model code was an attempt to set out a minimum set of obligations 
for councillors to promote public confidence in local governance arrangements.  In light of 
those developments, the Council’s Standards Committee had agreed in October 2020 to 
review the Council’s Member Code of Conduct during the 2021/22 municipal year.  This 
work would begin shortly and any recommendations to change the existing Code of 
Conduct would be presented to Council for approval in due course. 
 
A more general review of the Constitution would be conducted alongside the review of the 
Code of Conduct and, again, any proposed changes to the Constitution would be presented 
to full Council for consideration and approval. 
 
Resolved - That Council: 
 

(1) Notes that the Virtual Meeting Procedure Rules 
no longer have effect;  

 
(2) Notes that the various elements of the Council’s 

Constitution, including the Member Code of 
Conduct, will be reviewed during 2021/22 and 
that further reports will be submitted to Council 
in due course. 

 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
at which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 12



REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 01 July 2021 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Miles Parkinson, Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: Policy Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Initial proposal for the new Parliamentary 
Constituency Boundary Review 2023 for Hyndburn 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: Options If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To provide Council with an update on the Parliamentary Boundary Review 2023, 

notifying members of the initial proposals from the Boundary Commission for England 
(the Commission) concerning the Hyndburn constituency and obtain Council’s support 
for the Commission’s initial recommendations. 

 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Council: 
 

 Notes the contents of the report; and 

 The Council supports the proposal for keeping Hyndburn in one 
parliamentary constituency area and Hyndburn CC (County Constituency) 
for the name of the constituency.  

 We understand there maybe differing views regarding preferences of which 
additional wards make up electorate numbers within the parliament seat. 
But, any further proposals to change the name and not keep Hyndburn 
coterminous in one parliamentary seat would not receive the Council’s full 
support. 
 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The Boundary Commission for England (the Commission) is an independent and 

impartial non‑departmental public body, which is responsible for reviewing 
Parliamentary constituency boundaries in England. 

 
On the 8th June 2021 the Commission published a report on their initial proposals to 
ensure that the number of electors in each constituency is more equal (electorate 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7.



equality), which included a boundary change to the Hyndburn constituency and again 
proposed the name Hyndburn CC (County Constituency) which the Commission 
proposed in the final review back in 2018.   
 
The Commission’s latest proposals for the Hyndburn constituency included the loss of 
the Haslingden area to the West Pennine Moors constituency and the gain of three 
additional wards (Billington & Langho; East Whalley, Read & Simonstone; Whalley & 
Painter Wood) from the Ribble Valley constituency, whilst keeping Hyndburn 
coterminous with the district council’s boundary.  

 
3.2 Following the passing of the Parliamentary Constituencies Act 2020 in December 

2020, and the publication of the relevant Parliamentary electorate data in January 
2021, the Commission began a new review of all Parliamentary constituencies in 
England. They refer to this as the ‘2023 Review’, as they are required to report with 
their final recommendations by 1 July 2023.  

 
3.3 The 2023 Review of Parliamentary constituencies was formally launched in January 

this year (2021). The Commission is required to ensure that the number of electors in 
each constituency is more equal; in doing so, the number of constituencies in England 
will increase from 533 to 543 (ten more than there are currently). The Commission is 
undertaking an independent review of all constituency boundaries in England and will 
present their final recommendations to Parliament by July 2023. Each constituency that 
the Commission recommend must contain no fewer than 69,724 Parliamentary 
electors, and no more than 77,062 (except two ‘protected’ constituencies for the Isle of 
Wight). By law, these electorate figures relate to the electorates as they were on 2 
March 2020. 

 
3.4 Applying the statutory formula to the electorate figures means the total 650 

constituencies is distributed during the review to the four parts of the UK with England 
receiving 543 seats, Scotland with 57, Wales with 32 and Northern Ireland with 18 
seats. 
This Commission has applied the same distribution formula to the English allocation, 
which results in the following redistribution of constituencies among the nine English 
regions for the 2023 Review with the North West losing two seats from 75 to 73. 

 East Midlands = 47 (increase of one) 

 Eastern = 61 (increase of three) 

 London = 75 (increase of two) 

 North East = 27 (decrease of two) 

 North West = 73 (decrease of two) 

 South East = 91 (increase of seven) 

 South West = 58 (increase of three) 

 West Midlands = 57 (decrease of two) 

Page 14

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/25/contents/enacted
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/elections/electoralregistration/bulletins/electoralstatisticsforuk/march2020


 Yorkshire and the Humber = 54 (no change) 

3.5 The Commission’s proposals leave ten of the existing 75 (going down to 73) North 
West constituencies unchanged. A further three constituencies are unchanged, except 
to realign with new local government ward boundaries. Across Cumbria and 
Lancashire it is proposed to reduce the number of existing constituency areas from 22 
to 20, whilst Greater Manchester, Cheshire & Merseyside have kept the same number. 
This is down to the number of constituencies allocated to each sub-region and is 
determined by the combined electorate of the local authorities they contain.  

 
Proposals 
 
 
3.6 In 2018, the Council was united in keeping Hyndburn coterminous with 100% of the 

district area within the parliamentary seat of Hyndburn whilst keeping its name.  The 
Council is pleased the Commission followed the previous submission and kept 
Hyndburn coterminous and would like to thank the Commission for retaining the 
Hyndburn area.   

 
The previous 2018 review recommended the Padiham wards were included in the 
Hyndburn constituency proposals (Appendix B), and the latest 2023 proposals include 
the three wards of Billington & Langho; East Whalley, Read & Simonstone; Whalley & 
Painter Wood (Appendix A) from the Ribble Valley constituency area.  
 
It can be argued that both 2018 and 2023 proposals have natural linkages and 
community ties from schools, shops and employment. The Padiham wards have similar 
social economic profiles and good infrastructure links.  Whilst, prior to 1983 Great 
Harwood was in the Clitheroe constituency, before it got changed to the Ribble Valley 
and Great Harwood moved into Hyndburn. 
 
Whilst there maybe differing opinions regarding preferences of which additional wards 
make up electorate numbers within the parliament seat the Council follow and support 
the Commissions impartiality and understands the seat requires a certain number of 
electorates to represent voter equality and tolerance level and be within the 
Commission’s recommendations. 
 

3.7 In the 2018 review the Ribble Valley Borough Council made a representation and their 
preferred Parliamentary Constituency was be to include the whole of the Ribble Valley, 
together with parts of West Hyndburn (Baxenden, Church, Immanuel, Netherton, 
Overton, Rishton, St Andrew’s and St Oswald’s) that would bring the new constituency 
within the right tolerance level at 77,634 and they suggested it should be known as 
Ribble Valley and Hyndburn West.  

 
However, the latest proposals suggest the Ribble Valley district will only lose those 
three wards to the Hyndburn seat. The Burnley constituency will lose Briercliffe, and 
gain Bacup and the Whitworth area. Pendle is 100% coterminous and would gain 
Briercliffe, while Rossendale district has been split between the seat of Burnley and the 
new seat of West Pennine Moors.   

 

Page 15



The concerns arise if we the Council consider proposing alternative recommendations 
such as preferences over certain wards the detrimental impact on Hyndburn could be 
the seat is split into another parliamentary area. The risk being a possibility that 
Hyndburn would no longer be coterminous if we suggest alternative proposals, with 
perhaps the Commission redrawing boundaries across the North West and proposing 
alternative proposals at other submission requests.  

 
The main Council’s objective is to support the proposal for keeping Hyndburn in one 
parliamentary constituency area. Any further proposals to change the name and not 
keep Hyndburn in one parliamentary seat would not receive the Council’s support. 
  

The Next Stage 
 
3.8 What happens next - On 8 June 2021 the Commission published their initial proposals 

for how the 543 constituencies for England could be drawn up within the legal 
parameters mentioned. This commences a statutory consultation period of eight weeks 
(closing 2 August 2021 - https://www.bcereviews.org.uk ), when anyone can give their 
views on those proposals. They will be particularly interested to hear from people about 
the extent to which the proposals reflect the local ties in the area, and if people 
disagree with their proposals, how they think they should be amended. There are two 
further rounds of public consultation. 

 
3.9 Early 2022 the Commission publish responses to initial proposals and conduct six-

week ‘secondary consultation’, including between two and five public hearings in each 
region. Late 2022 the Commission publish revised proposals and conduct four-week 
written consultation and following the conclusion of all three consultation periods, the 
Commission will look at all the evidence received before forming its final 
recommendations. The Commission must then submit its final report and 
recommendations to the Speaker of the House of Commons by 1 July 2023. 

 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council is not compelled to respond to the consultation, however this is an 

opportunity for the Council to support the BCE. ( www.bcereviews.org.uk )      
 
4.2 The Commission will be particularly interested to hear from people about the extent to 

which the proposals reflect the local ties in the area, and if people disagree with the 
proposals, how they think they should be amended.  

 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 A report went to Hyndburn Borough Council’s Full Council on the 17th November 2016 

which discussed the initial 2018 proposals. A second report went to Full Council on the 
23rd March 2017 that discussed the secondary consultation period for the new 
Parliamentary Constituency Boundary for Hyndburn and a letter was sent to the 
Commission. The letter stated that the Council supports the Commission’s proposals 

Page 16

http://www.bcereviews.org.uk/


for a change to the Hyndburn Parliamentary constituency area and requests that 
Hyndburn be retained in the name of the constituency. 

 
5.2 The 2023 Commission proposals commence a statutory consultation period of eight 

weeks (closing 2 August 2021 - https://www.bcereviews.org.uk ), when anyone can 
give their views on those proposals. 

 
5.3 In early 2022, the Commission will publish responses to initial proposals and conduct 

six-week ‘secondary consultation’, including between two and five public hearings in 
each region. In late 2022, the Commission will publish revised proposals and conduct a 
four-week written consultation. Following the conclusion of all three consultation 
periods, the Commission will look at all the evidence received before forming its final 
recommendations. The Commission must then submit its final report and 
recommendations to the Speaker of the House of Commons by 1 July 2023. 

 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

None 

Assessment of risk 
 

Not applicable 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

Not applicable 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Copies of documents included in this list must be open to inspection and, in the case of 
 reports to Cabinet, must be published on the website.  
 

 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1062&Ver=4 
 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1065&Ver=4 
 
https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/2023-review/north-west/ 
 
https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/2021-06-08-North-West-
Initial-Proposals-A0-map.pdf 
 

Page 17

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1062&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1065&Ver=4
https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/2023-review/north-west/
https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/2021-06-08-North-West-Initial-Proposals-A0-map.pdf
https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/2021-06-08-North-West-Initial-Proposals-A0-map.pdf


 

Page 18



Appendix A.  The Boundary Commission for England – Initial Proposals for the 
Hyndburn Constituency (2023) 

Page 19



Appendix B   The Boundary Commission for England – Previous Proposals for the Hyndburn Constituency (2018) 

 
 

P
age 20



1 
 

 AGENDA ITEM X           

REPORT TO: Full Council  

DATE: 1st July 2021 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer, Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Rachael Walker, Customer Contact Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: COVID-19 National Non Domestic Rates Reliefs for 
2021/22  

EXEMPT REPORT:  No  

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

  
1. Purpose of Report 
 

a) This report updates the Expanded National Non Domestic Rates Retail Discount 
Scheme approved in October 2020, extending provision of the 100% business 
rates relief for the first three months of 2021/22 from 1st April 2021 to 30th June 
2021. 

 

b) This report also updates the National Non Domestic Rates Nursery Discount 
Scheme for 2021/22, extending provision of the 100% business rates relief for the 
first three months of 2021/22 from 1st April 2021 to 30th June 2021. 

 

c) This report presents a new Expanded National Non Domestic Rates Retail 
Discount Scheme for the period of 1st July 2021 to 31st March 2022 providing 
eligible businesses with a 66% rate relief on their business rates liability for this 
period. 

 

d) This report presents a new Nursery Discount Scheme for the period of 1st July 
2021 to 31st March 2022 providing eligible businesses with a 66% rate relief on 
their business rates liability for this period. 
 

 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1    It is recommended that the Expanded National Non Domestic Retail Discount Scheme 

2020/21 and the Nursery Discount Scheme 2020/21 attached to this report are 
extended for the first three months of 2021/22 financial year. 

 
2.2 It is recommended that the Expanded National Non Domestic Rates Retail Discount 

Scheme 2021/22 and the Nursery Discount Scheme 2021/22 attached to this report 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8.



2 
 

are approved and applied to business rates bills as soon as is reasonably practicable 
in order to provide businesses with certainty around their business rates liabilities for 
2021/22. 

 
2.2 That the Deputy Chief Executive is given delegated power to undertake the calculation, 

collection, administration and recovery of National Non Domestic Rates in accordance 
with the Local Government Finance Act 1988, (as amended from time to time) and 
further government regulations that may be issued pursuant to the same. 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
  

3.1  In its response to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, the Government has 
announced a raft of measures to support business rates payers – deliverable via billing 
authorities using their existing discretionary powers under Section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988.  

 
3.2 Government has supported billing authorities and their preceptors by funding, in full, 

the discretionary reliefs awarded under these measures using grants delivered under 
Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 
3.3 The administration of all discount schemes within this report is subject to restrictions 

laid out in Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 which stipulates that 
any variation or termination of a discount scheme under Section 47 that would result in 
an increased financial liability for the ratepayer must be done at the end of a financial 
year and with 12 months’ notice. By extending the 2020/21 schemes and implementing 
new schemes from 1st July 2021, the Council’s administration of business rates relief 
remains within the legal boundaries of our discretionary powers. 

 
 

Expanded Retail Discount Scheme 2021/22 Scheme  
3.4 Since 2019/20 the Government has provided a Business Rates Retail Discount for 

retail properties which for 2020/21 it expanded to include the leisure and hospitality 
sectors. On 3 March 2021 the Government confirmed that the Expanded Retail 
Discount would continue to apply in 2021/22 at 100% for three months, from 1 April 
2021 to 30 June 2021. 

 
3.5 For 2021/22, the Expanded Retail Discount is applied after mandatory reliefs and other 

discretionary reliefs funded by grants made under section 31 of the Local Government 
Act 2003 have been applied.  Other locally applied discounts under section 47 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988 must be applied after the Expanded Retail 
Discount. 

 
3.6 Expanded Retail Discount awards are made under section 47 of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1988 as amended. 
 
3.7 For the extended 2020/21 scheme, a total of 311 businesses are set to benefit from 1st 

April to 30th June 2021 with a total of £1.1M in business rates relief awarded.  For the 
new 2021/22 scheme, fewer businesses are due to accept the relief due to cash caps 

Page 22



3 
 

and some national chains have requested relief to 30th June 2021 only.  Our current 
estimate of relief to be paid under the 2021/22 scheme is £2.1M. 

 
 
3.8 The Retail Discount Scheme provided by the Council, in line with guidance and funding 

provided via MHCLG has been updated to reflect changes made to policy on a national 
scale.  The main differences in the schemes are laid out below: 

 

  
 
 
 
3.9  Nursery Discount Scheme 

In response to the Coronavirus, in the Budget on 18th March 2020, the Government 
announced that all Early Years Foundation Stage childcare providers, registered with 
Ofsted and liable for business rates in 2020/21 would be given a 100% business rates 
discount for 2020/21. 

 
3.10 At the Budget on 3 March 2021, the Chancellor announced that the Nursery Discount 

would continue to apply at 100% for eligible properties for the first three months of 
2021 from 1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021.  

 
3.11 In total, 12 Early Years Foundation Stage childcare providers are set to benefit from 

the 2020/21 scheme extension with a total of £17,000 being awarded from 1st April to 
30th June 2021.  The same 12 childcare providers are due to benefit from the new 
2021/22 scheme with £33,000 in rate relief due to be awarded. 

 

Initial Retail Discount 
Scheme for 2020/21 prior 
to the pandemic  

2020/21 Retail Discount 
Scheme changes 
announced in March 2020 

2020/21 Extension to the 
Retail Discount Scheme 
announced in March 
2021 

Rateable value limit of 
£51,000 

No rateable value limit No rateable value limit 

Maximum relief available 
50% of the eligible bill 

Maximum relief available 
100% of the eligible bill 

Maximum relief available 
100% of the eligible bill for 
the first three months of 
the financial 2021/22 year. 

Limited to retail, live music 
venues and cinemas 

Included hotels, guest houses 
and boarding houses, leisure 
and assembly facilities, as well 
as other premises used for the 
provision of services to visiting 
members of the public, a full 
list is at section 2 of the Retail 
Discount scheme. 

Continues to include  
hotels, guest houses and 
boarding houses, leisure 
and assembly facilities, as 
well as other premises 
used for the provision of 
services to visiting 
members of the public, a 
full list is at section 2 of the 
Retail Discount scheme. 

Page 23



4 
 

3.12 For both scheme extensions, as this is a measure for 2021/22 only, the Government is 
not changing the legislation relating to the reliefs available to properties. Instead the 
Government will reimburse local authorities that use their discretionary relief powers 
under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended), to grant 
relief.  

 
 
3.13 2021/22 Expanded Retail Relief and Nursery Discount Schemes 

In its guidance to local authorities issued in March 2021, Government has outlined 
future funding for both an Expanded Retail Discount Scheme and Nursery Discount 
Scheme to run from 1st July 2021 to 31st March 2022.  For both schemes, business 
rates relief will be capped at 66% of the business rates liability (subject to cash caps) 
for 1st July 2021 to 31st March 2022, at which point the schemes will close.   

 
3.14 For both 2021/22 schemes, ratepayers will be given the right to refuse the discount. 
 
3.15 Cash Caps 

For the Expanded Retail Relief 2022/21, a ratepayer may only receive relief up to the 
following cash caps, ignoring any relief for the period before 1 July 2021: 

a. £2 million for ratepayers meeting the eligibility for the ‘closed cash cap test’; this 
test identifies those businesses whose main in-person services were mandated 
to close based on law and guidance applicable on 5th Januarys 2021, further 
compensating those businesses that may have faced a steeper financial impact 
as a result of national and local restrictions. Or, 
 

b. £105,000 for all other ratepayers not subject to mandatory closures as outlined 
above. 

3.16 For the Nursery Discount Scheme 2021/22, a cash cap of £105,000 per business is 
applicable, across all of their hereditaments. 

 
3.17 State Aid/Subsidy Control 

Whilst EU State Aid rules no longer apply within the UK following the end of the 

transition period on 31 December 2020, the UK still has several international 

obligations relating to subsidies. These include those arising from the UK’s continued 

membership of the World Trade Organisation, or from the UK-EU Trade and 

Cooperation Agreement. The Government considers that relief awarded under the 

schemes in this report is not a subsidy that falls foul of the new subsidy control 

principles. This means that local authorities may lawfully award relief to all eligible 

properties up to the caps specified in the guidance. 

 
4. Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 All schemes outlined in this report are provided to local ratepayers at no additional cost 

to the Council as discounts provided under the schemes are subsidised by 
Government.  Written and published guidance allows for a consistent and fair 
application of the discount schemes. 

Page 24



5 
 

 
4.3 The Council may extend the Expanded Retail Discount Schemes for each applicable 

time period to include more business types, however any expansion would be at 
additional cost to the authority and all business types are already covered within the 
Council’s broader discretionary powers via application and consideration on a case by 
case basis.  A further expansion of the scheme is therefore considered not to be 
required. 

 
4.4 Similarly, the Council may extend the Nursery Discount Scheme for 2021/22 to 

increase the level of discount available.  Any expansion would be at additional cost to 
the authority and all business types are already covered within the Council’s broader 
discretionary powers via application and consideration on a case by case basis.  A 
further expansion of the scheme is therefore considered not to be required. 

 
 

5. Consultations 
 
5.1 No formal consultation has taken place with the public on this scheme.  Both schemes 

are temporary, are of limited scope and are based on Government guidelines.   
 

6. Implications 
 

Financial implications 
(including any future financial 
commitments for the Council) 
 

The collection of local taxes remains a 
priority for the Council and having 
relevant and up to date policies provides 
the necessary framework for officers.  
While there is no direct financial 
obligation for the Council as a result of 
these discount schemes, having a 
published scheme provides guidance 
and transparency for local ratepayers.  
 
The government will reimburse billing 
authorities and major precepting 
authorities for their loss of income under 
the rates retention scheme as a result of 
awarding the relief that falls within these 
policies. As billing authorities have 
completed their NNDR1’s for 2021/22 
already, payments to major precepting 
authorities will be unaffected by the 
award of relief. Therefore, billing 
authorities only will be provided with “on-
account” s.31 payments covering the full 
amount of relief awarded, in order to 
ensure that their cash flow is not 
affected. In the first instance, payments 
will cover the first three months relief and 
will be based on existing data. 

Page 25



6 
 

 
At the end of the year, billing authorities 
will also be asked to provide outturn data 
on the actual total cost for providing the 
relief, as per the usual process, via the 
National Non-Domestic Rate 3 (NNDR3) 
forms for 2021/22. Each billing and 
major precepting authority’s loss of 
income from relief will be reconciled 
against the on-account payments made 
over the course of the year, and any 
difference paid or recovered. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The administration of business rates is 
done within legislative frameworks and 
guidance.  Any and all legal and human 
rights implications have been considered 
and balanced against the rights of the 
individual and the obligations placed on 
the authority for the collection and 
administration of local taxes.  The 
protection of vulnerable groups and 
individuals has been considered 
extensively as have the rights of our 
residents and customers.  Legal 
implications and human rights have been 
considered at each stage and the policy 
intentions within this report are 
considered proportionate and justifiable 
when balanced against the rights of the 
individual. 

Assessment of risk 
 

Having written guidance reinforces the 
Council’s mandate to administer taxes 
on behalf of the Council and its 
preceptors and provides necessary 
transparency for rate payers – both of 
which lessens the risk of accusations of 
maladministration. 

Equality and diversity 
implications 
A Customer First Analysis should 
be completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached 
as an appendix to the report.  

The Council is subject to the public 
sector equality duty introduced by the 
Equality Act 2010. When making a 
decision in respect of the 
recommendations in this report Council 
must have regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; and 

 advance equality of opportunity 
between those who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those 

Page 26

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


7 
 

who don’t; and 

 foster good relations between those 
who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who don’t. 

For these purposes the relevant 
protected characteristics are: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex and sexual orientation. To 
assist the Council in this regard a 
Customer First Analysis has been 
carried out and is presented with this 
report at Appendix 5. Council is advised 
to consider the Customer First Analysis 
and associated obligations in respect of 
the public sector equality duty when 
making a decision in respect of the 
recommendations contained in this 
report.  

 
 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
National Non Domestic Rates Retail Discount Scheme report – Council 21st February 
2019 
 
National Non Domestic Rates Reliefs report – Council, 27th February 2020 
 

 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 

Page 27

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s9955/Full%20Council%20Report%20-%20Retail%20Discount%20Scheme%20-%20FINAL%20-%2030%20Jan%202019%20app.pdf
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s9955/Full%20Council%20Report%20-%20Retail%20Discount%20Scheme%20-%20FINAL%20-%2030%20Jan%202019%20app.pdf
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s13516/Report%20on%20National%20Non%20Domestic%20Rates%20Reliefs%20for%20202021.pdf


Appendix 1 

8 
 

 
 

Non Domestic Rates  
Expanded Retail Discount Scheme 2020/21 

March 2020, updated in April 2021 
 

1 Introduction  
1.1 This guidance is intended to support businesses in their application for and 

understanding of the Expanded Business Rates Retail Discount for 2020/21. 
 

1.2 The Government announced in the Budget in October 2018 that it will provide 
a Business Rates Retail Discount Scheme for occupied retail premises with a 
rateable value of less than £51,000 in each of the years 2019/20 and 2020/21. 

 
1.3 In response to the Coronavirus, in the Budget on 11th March 2020, the 

Government announced that it would increase the discount to 100% and 
extend it to include the leisure and hospitality sectors. 

 
1.4 For 2020/21, the Expanded Retail Discount is applied after mandatory reliefs 

and other discretionary reliefs funded by grants made under section 31 of the 
Local Government Act 2003 have been applied.  Other locally applied discounts 
under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 must be applied 
after the Expanded Retail Discount. 

 
1.5 Expanded Retail Discount awards are made under section 47 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988 as amended. 
 
1.6 In March 2021, the Government announced an extension to this scheme and in 

April 2021, this scheme was extended for three months from 1st April 2021 to 
30th June 2021.  The scheme end date is now 30th June 2021. 

2 Eligibility 
2.1 Eligibility criteria for the Expanded Retail Discount includes occupied 

hereditaments that are wholly or mainly being used:  
 

2.1.1 for the provision of services to visiting members of the public, shops, 
restaurants, cafes, drinking establishments, cinemas and live music venues; 

2.1.2 for assembly and leisure; 

Page 28



Appendix 1 

9 
 

2.1.3 as hotels, guest and boarding premises and self-catering accommodation. 
 
2.2 We consider hereditaments used for the provision of services to visiting 

members of the public, shops, restaurants, cafes, drinking establishments, 
cinemas and live music venues to mean: 
 

2.2.1 Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting members of 
the public such as: 

 
a) Shops (such as: florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, 

jewellers, stationers, off licences, chemists, newsagents, hardware 
stores, supermarkets etc.); 

b) Charity shops; 
c) Opticians; 
d) Post Offices; 
e) Furnishing Shops/display rooms (such as carpet shops, double-glazing, 

garage doors); 
f) Car/caravan show rooms; 
g) Second hand car showrooms or lots; 
h) Markets; 
i) Petrol stations; 
j) Garden centres; 
k) Art Galleries (where art is for sale/hire) 
 

2.2.2 Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following services to 
visiting members of the public: 

 
a) Hair and beauty services (such as hairdressers, nail bars, beauty salons, 

tanning shops etc.); 
b) Shoe repair/key cutting; 
c) Travel Agents; 
d) Ticket offices i.e. for theatres; 
e) Dry cleaners; 
f) Launderettes; 
g) PC/TV/Domestic appliance repair; 
h) Funeral directors; 
i) Photo processing; 
j) Tool hire; 
k) Car hire; 
l) Employment agencies; 
m) Estate agents and letting agents; 
n) Betting shops. 

 
2.2.3 Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and/or drink to visiting 

members of the public: 
 

a) Restaurants; 

Page 29



Appendix 1 

10 
 

b) Takeaways; 
c) Sandwich shops; 
d) Coffee shops; 
e) Pubs; 
f) Bars. 

 
2.2.4 Hereditaments which are being used as cinemas; 

 
2.2.5 Hereditaments which are being used as live music venues; 

 
a) Live music venues are hereditaments wholly or mainly used for the 

performance of live music for the purpose of entertaining an audience. 
Hereditaments cannot be considered a live music venue for the purpose 
of business rates relief where a venue is wholly or mainly used as a 
nightclub or a theatre, for the purposes of the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).  

 
b) Hereditaments can be a live music venue even if used for other 

activities, but only if those other activities (i) are merely ancillary or 
incidental to the performance of live music (e.g. the sale/supply of 
alcohol to audience members) or (ii) do not affect the fact that the 
primary activity for the premises is the performance of live music (e.g. 
because those other activities are insufficiently regular or frequent, 
such as a polling station or a fortnightly community event).  

 
c) There may be circumstances in which it is difficult to tell whether an 

activity is a performance of live music or, instead, the playing of 
recorded music. Although we would expect this would be clear in most 
circumstances, guidance found in Chapter 16 of the statutory guidance 
issued in April 2018 under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 may be 
used to help make a determination as to the eligibility for this relief. 

 
2.3 We consider assembly and leisure to mean hereditaments that are being used 

wholly or mainly for the provision of sport, leisure and facilities to visiting 
members of the public (Including for the viewing of such activities): 
 

a) Sports grounds and clubs; 
b) Museums and art galleries; 
c) Nightclubs; 
d) Sport and leisure facilities; 
e) Stately homes and historic houses; 
f) Theatres; 
g) Tourist attractions; 
h) Gyms; 
i) Wellness centre, spas, massage parlours; 
j) Casinos, gambling clubs and bingo halls. 

 

Page 30



Appendix 1 

11 
 

2.4.1 Hereditaments that are being used for the assembly of visiting members of the 
public: 
 

a) Public halls; 
b) Club houses, clubs and institutions. 

 
2.5 We consider hotels, guest and boarding premises and self-catering 

accommodation to mean: 
 

a) Hotels, guest and boarding houses; 
b) Holiday homes; 
c) Caravan parks and sites. 

 
2.6 The above lists are not exhaustive and we will consider representations from 

individual businesses that believe they have similar characteristics to those listed 
above but who have not been included to date. 

 
2.7 Eligibility for Expanded Retail Discount Scheme is a test on use rather than 

occupation.  Therefore, hereditaments which are unoccupied or which are 
occupied but not wholly or mainly used for the qualifying purposes will not 
qualify for this discount.   

 
2.8 For the avoidance of doubt, hereditaments which have closed temporarily due to 

the Government’s advice on COVID-19 will be treated as occupied for the 
purposes of this relief. 

 
2.9 Hereditaments occupied for mixed use will be considered with qualification 

being determined by the main use of the property. 
 
2.10 Expanded Retail Discount Relief award will not be available for hereditaments 

being used for the provision of the following services: 
 

a) Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, bureaux de 
change, payday lenders, pawn brokers); 

b) Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors); 
c) Professional Services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance 

agents/financial advisors,); 
d) Post Office sorting offices;  
e) Other assembly or leisure uses beyond those listed in 2.2.3 to 2.2.5 

above (e.g. theatres, museums, nightclubs and gyms) 
 
2.11 In addition, the Retail Discount Scheme will not be available for premises that 

are not reasonably accessible to the public. 
 
2.12 The relief will be applied on a daily basis.  A new hereditament created as a 

result of a split or merger during the financial year, or where there is a change 
of use, will be considered afresh for relief on that day. 

Page 31



Appendix 1 

12 
 

3 Amount and Duration of Relief 
3.1 The total amount of government-funded discount available for each 

hereditament under this scheme is 100% of the bill.  This discount is applied 
after mandatory reliefs and, with the exception of the 2020/21 pubs discount, 
other discretionary reliefs funded by grants provided under section 31 of the 
Local Government Act 2003. 

 
3.2 The Retail Discount will be applied as a reduction to the overall business rates 

liability for 2020/21 and for the first three months of 2021/22 (1st April 2021 to 
30th June 2021); no cash alternative is available. 

 
3.3 Ratepayers who occupy more than one hereditaments may be entitled to the 

Retail Discount for each of their eligible hereditaments. 

4. State Aid/Subsidy Control 
4.1 Whilst EU State Aid rules no longer apply within the UK following the end of 

the transition period on 31 December 2020, the UK still has several 

international obligations relating to subsidies. These include those arising from 

the UK’s continued membership of the World Trade Organisation, or from the 

UK-EU Trade and Cooperation Agreement. The Government considers that 

relief awarded under this scheme is not a subsidy.  

5. Scheme Review 
5.1 The discount scheme will be reviewed in line with any changes made by 

Government in order to ensure that eligibility remains within Government 
guidance and relevant legislation. 

6. Data Protection 
6.1 Details of our data privacy policy can be found at 

www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/privacy-notice 

7. Equality and Diversity 
7.1 The Council remains committed to its obligations under the Public Sector 

Equality Duty and a ‘Customer First Analysis’ has been provided with this 
scheme. 

8. Appeals and complaints 
8.1 As a discretionary power, appeals against decisions made under this Discount 

Scheme are by way of judicial review and all complaints made directly to the 
authority will be handled in line with the Council’s complaints policy available 
at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/complaints  

Page 32

http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/privacy-notice
http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/complaints


Appendix 3 

13 
 

 
 

Non Domestic Rates  
Nursery Discount Scheme 2020/21 

March 2020, Updated April 2021 
 

 

1 Introduction  
1.1 This guidance is intended to support businesses in their application for and understanding of 

the Nursery Discount Scheme for 2020/21. 
 
1.2 In response to the Coronavirus, in the Budget on 18th March 2020, the Government 

announced that all Early Years Foundation Stage childcare providers, registered with Ofsted 
and liable for business rates in 2020/21 would be given a 100% business rates discount for 
2020/21. 

 
1.3 As this is a measure for 2020/21 only, the Government is not changing the legislation relating 

to the reliefs available to properties. Instead the Government will, in line with the eligibility 
criteria set out in this guidance, reimburse local authorities that use their discretionary relief 
powers under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended), to grant 
relief.  

 

1.4 In March 2021, the Government announced an extension to this scheme to 30th June 2021.  
This scheme will now apply from 1st April 2021 to 30th June 2021 and will now end on 30th 
June 2021 

2 Eligibility 
2.1 Properties that will benefit from the relief will be hereditaments occupied by providers on 

Ofsted's Early Years Register and wholly or mainly used for the provision of the Early Years 
Foundation Stage.  

 
2.2 To qualify for the relief the hereditament should be wholly or mainly being used for the above 

qualifying purpose. In a similar way to other reliefs (such as charity relief), this is a test on use 
rather than occupation. Therefore, hereditaments which are occupied but not wholly or 
mainly used for the qualifying purpose will not qualify for the relief. For the avoidance of 
doubt, hereditaments which have closed temporarily due to the government’s advice on 
COVID19 should be treated as occupied for the purposes of this relief.  

Page 33



Appendix 3 

14 
 

 

 
 
2.3 The relief will be applied on a daily basis.  A new hereditament created as a result of a split or 

merger during the financial year, or where there is a change of use, will be considered afresh 
for relief on that day. 

3 Amount and Duration of Relief 
3.1 The total amount of government-funded discount available for each hereditament under this 

scheme is 100% of the bill.  This discount is applied after mandatory reliefs and other 
discretionary reliefs funded by grants provided under section 31 of the Local Government Act 
2003. 

 
3.2 The Nursery Discount will be applied as a reduction to the overall business rates liability for 

2020/21 and for the first three months of the 2021/22 financial year from 1st April 2021 to 20th 
June 2021; no cash alternative is available. 

 
3.3 Ratepayers who occupy more than one hereditaments may be entitled to the Retail Discount 

for each of their eligible hereditaments. 

4. State Aid/Subsidy Control 
4.1 Whilst EU State Aid rules no longer apply within the UK following the end of the transition 

period on 31 December 2020, the UK still has several international obligations relating to 

subsidies. These include those arising from the UK’s continued membership of the World 

Trade Organisation, or from the UK-EU Trade and Cooperation Agreement. The Government 

considers that relief awarded under Nursery Discount Scheme is not a subsidy.  

5. Scheme Review 
5.1 The discount scheme will be reviewed in line with any changes made by Government in order 

to ensure that eligibility remains within Government guidance and relevant legislation. 

6. Data Protection 
6.1 Details of our data privacy policy can be found at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/privacy-notice 

7. Equality and Diversity 
7.1 The Council remains committed to its obligations under the Public Sector Equality Duty and a 

‘Customer First Analysis’ has been provided with this scheme. 

8. Appeals and complaints 
8.1 As a discretionary power, appeals against decisions made under this Discount Scheme are by 

way of judicial review and all complaints made directly to the authority will be handled in line 
with the Council’s complaints policy available at  www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/complaints  

 

Page 34

http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/privacy-notice
http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/complaints


Appendix 1 

15 
 

 
 

Non Domestic Rates  
Expanded Retail Discount Scheme 2021/22 

April 2021 
 

2 Introduction  
3.3 The Government announced in the Budget in March 2021 that it will provide a 

Business Rates Retail Discount Scheme for occupied retail premises, subject to 
cash cap limits, of 66% from 1st July 2021 to 31st March 2022. 

 
3.4 The Expanded Retail Discount 2021/22 is applied after mandatory reliefs and 

other discretionary reliefs funded by grants made under section 31 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 have been applied.  Other locally applied discounts 
under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 must be applied 
after the Expanded Retail Discount. 

 
3.5 Expanded Retail Discount awards are made under section 47 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988 as amended. 

4 Eligibility 
4.1 Eligibility criteria for the Expanded Retail Discount for 2021/22 includes 

occupied hereditaments that are wholly or mainly being used:  
 
4.1.1 for the provision of services to visiting members of the public, shops, 

restaurants, cafes, drinking establishments, cinemas and live music venues; 
 

4.1.2 for assembly and leisure; 
 
4.1.3 as hotels, guest and boarding premises and self-catering accommodation. 
 
4.2 We consider hereditaments used for the provision of services to visiting 

members of the public, shops, restaurants, cafes, drinking establishments, 
cinemas and live music venues to mean: 
 

4.2.1 Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting members of 
the public such as: 

 

Page 35



Appendix 1 

16 
 

a) Shops (such as: florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, 
jewellers, stationers, off licences, chemists, newsagents, hardware 
stores, supermarkets etc.); 

b) Charity shops; 
c) Opticians; 
d) Post Offices; 
e) Furnishing Shops/display rooms (such as carpet shops, double-glazing, 

garage doors); 
f) Car/caravan show rooms; 
g) Second hand car showrooms or lots; 
h) Markets; 
i) Petrol stations; 
j) Garden centres; 
k) Art Galleries (where art is for sale/hire) 
 

4.2.2 Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following services to 
visiting members of the public: 

 
a) Hair and beauty services (such as hairdressers, nail bars, beauty salons, 

tanning shops etc.); 
b) Shoe repair/key cutting; 
c) Travel Agents; 
d) Ticket offices i.e. for theatres; 
e) Dry cleaners; 
f) Launderettes; 
g) PC/TV/Domestic appliance repair; 
h) Funeral directors; 
i) Photo processing; 
j) Tool hire; 
k) Car hire; 
l) Employment agencies; 
m) Estate agents and letting agents; 
n) Betting shops. 

 
4.2.3 Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and/or drink to visiting 

members of the public: 
 

a) Restaurants; 
b) Takeaways; 
c) Sandwich shops; 
d) Coffee shops; 
e) Pubs; 
f) Bars. 

 
4.2.4 Hereditaments which are being used as cinemas; 

 
4.2.5 Hereditaments which are being used as live music venues; 

Page 36



Appendix 1 

17 
 

 
d) Live music venues are hereditaments wholly or mainly used for the 

performance of live music for the purpose of entertaining an audience. 
Hereditaments cannot be considered a live music venue for the purpose 
of business rates relief where a venue is wholly or mainly used as a 
nightclub or a theatre, for the purposes of the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).  

 
e) Hereditaments can be a live music venue even if used for other 

activities, but only if those other activities (i) are merely ancillary or 
incidental to the performance of live music (e.g. the sale/supply of 
alcohol to audience members) or (ii) do not affect the fact that the 
primary activity for the premises is the performance of live music (e.g. 
because those other activities are insufficiently regular or frequent, 
such as a polling station or a fortnightly community event).  

 
f) There may be circumstances in which it is difficult to tell whether an 

activity is a performance of live music or, instead, the playing of 
recorded music. Although we would expect this would be clear in most 
circumstances, guidance found in Chapter 16 of the statutory guidance 
issued in April 2018 under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 may be 
used to help make a determination as to the eligibility for this relief. 

 
4.3 We consider assembly and leisure to mean hereditaments that are being used 

wholly or mainly for the provision of sport, leisure and facilities to visiting 
members of the public (Including for the viewing of such activities): 
 

a) Sports grounds and clubs; 
b) Museums and art galleries; 
c) Nightclubs; 
d) Sport and leisure facilities; 
e) Stately homes and historic houses; 
f) Theatres; 
g) Tourist attractions; 
h) Gyms; 
i) Wellness centre, spas, massage parlours; 
j) Casinos, gambling clubs and bingo halls. 

 
2.5.1 Hereditaments that are being used for the assembly of visiting members of the 

public: 
 

a) Public halls; 
b) Club houses, clubs and institutions. 

 
2.6 We consider hotels, guest and boarding premises and self-catering 

accommodation to mean: 
 

Page 37



Appendix 1 

18 
 

a) Hotels, guest and boarding houses; 
b) Holiday homes; 
c) Caravan parks and sites. 

 
2.6 The above lists are not exhaustive and we will consider representations from 

individual businesses that believe they have similar characteristics to those listed 
above but who have not been included to date. 

 
2.9 Eligibility for Expanded Retail Discount Scheme is a test on use rather than 

occupation.  Therefore, hereditaments which are unoccupied or which are 
occupied but not wholly or mainly used for the qualifying purposes will not 
qualify for this discount.   

 
2.10 For the avoidance of doubt, hereditaments which have closed temporarily due to 

the Government’s advice on COVID-19 will be treated as occupied for the 
purposes of this relief. 

 
2.9 Hereditaments occupied for mixed use will be considered with qualification 

being determined by the main use of the property. 
 
2.10 Expanded Retail Discount Relief award will not be available for hereditaments 

being used for the provision of the following services: 
 

a) Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, bureaux 
de change, payday lenders, pawn brokers); 

b) Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, 
chiropractors); 

c) Professional Services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance 
agents/financial advisors,); 

d) Post Office sorting offices;  
e) Other assembly or leisure uses beyond those listed in 2.2.3 to 2.2.5 

above (e.g. theatres, museums, nightclubs and gyms) 
 
2.11 In addition, the Retail Discount Scheme will not be available for premises that 

are not reasonably accessible to the public. 
 
2.12 The relief will be applied on a daily basis.  A new hereditament created as a 

result of a split or merger during the financial year, or where there is a change 
of use, will be considered afresh for relief on that day. 

 
2.13 For 2021/22, any ratepayer may refuse the discount for each eligible 

hereditament anytime up to 30 April 2022. The ratepayer cannot withdraw 
their refusal for either all or part of the financial year. For the purposes of 
section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, hereditaments where 
the ratepayer has refused the relief are outside of the scheme and outside of 
the scope of the decision of which hereditaments qualify for the discount and 
are therefore ineligible for the relief. 

Page 38



Appendix 1 

19 
 

5 Amount and Duration of Relief 
5.1 The total amount of government-funded discount available for each 

hereditament under the 2021/22 scheme is 66% of the eligible bill for the 
remainder of the financial year from 1st July 2021 to 31st March 2022. This 
discount is applied after mandatory reliefs and, with the exception of the 
2020/21 pubs discount, other discretionary reliefs funded by grants provided 
under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 

5.2 The Retail Discount will be applied as a reduction to the overall business rates 
liability for 2021/22 from 1st July 2021 to 31st March 2022; no cash alternative 
is available. 
 

5.3 From 1st July 2021, the retail discount will be capped at £105,000 per business 
or £2 million per business where the business is in occupation of a property 
that was required, or would have been required, to close, based on the law and 
guidance applicable on 5 January 2021. 

 

5.4 For the 2021/22 scheme, ratepayers who occupy more than one hereditaments 
may be entitled to the Retail Discount for each of their eligible hereditaments 
subject to the cash cap as outlined in section 4 below. 

 

5.5 The standard payment arrangement for business rates is for the liability for the 
year to be paid in 10 or 12 instalments. However, for those eligible for the two 
Extended Retail Discount Schemes applicable in 2021/22, this would mean 
those ratepayers having to make instalments in the first three months of the 
year when 100% relief is available. Therefore, we will ensure in accordance 
with Part 1, Schedule 1 of The Non-Domestic Rating (Collection and 
Enforcement) (Local Lists) (Regulations) 1989 (SI 1989/1058), as amended, that 
ratepayers eligible for the Extended Retail Discount 2020/21 and 2021/22 are 
not asked to make an instalment in respect of 2021/22 for the three month 
period of 100% relief is available for. An alternative instalment arrangement 
will be implemented for ratepayers which spreads the liability for the period 
from 1 July 2021 to 31 March 2022 over some or all of the remaining nine 
months of the year. 

 

4.  2021/22 Scheme Cash Caps 
4.1 Under the cash caps, a ratepayer may only receive up to the following cash 

caps of Expanded Retail Discount in 2021/22 ignoring any relief for the period 
before 1 July 2021 under the 2020/21 Scheme as extended: 

 
a. £2 million for ratepayers meeting the eligibility for the closed cash cap test 

set out in Annex B of the Government’s guidance on this discount (subject 
to paragraphs 21-23), or 

b. b. £105,000 for all other ratepayers (subject to paragraphs 21-23 of the 
same guidance). 

Page 39

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-expanded-retail-discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance/business-rates-expanded-retail-discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-expanded-retail-discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance/business-rates-expanded-retail-discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-expanded-retail-discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance/business-rates-expanded-retail-discount-2021-to-2022-local-authority-guidance


Appendix 1 

20 
 

 
4.3 No ratepayer can in any circumstances exceed the £2 million cash cap across all 

of their hereditaments in England. Where a ratepayer eligible for the closed 
cash cap also occupies hereditaments which do not meet the criteria for the 
closed cash cap and the value of the discount on the closed hereditaments is 
less than £2 million then they may also claim the discount on other eligible 
hereditaments but only up to the cap of £105,000 in respect of those other 
eligible hereditaments. For example, such a ratepayer whose rate bill from 1 
July 2021 onwards on hereditaments eligible for the closed cash cap is £1 
million and also occupies other eligible hereditaments with a rates bill of £3 
million is able to claim up to £1,105,000 in discount from 1 July 2021 onwards 
(£1million on their closed hereditament and then up to the £105,000 cash cap 
on their other eligible hereditaments). 

 

4.4 Where a ratepayer has a qualifying connection with another ratepayer then 
those ratepayers should be considered as one ratepayer for the purposes of 
the cash caps. A ratepayer shall be treated as having a qualifying connection 
with another: 

 
a. where both ratepayers are companies, and 

 
i. one is a subsidiary of the other, or 
ii. both are subsidiaries of the same company; or 
 

b. where only one ratepayer is a company, the other ratepayer (the 
“second ratepayer”) has such an interest in that company as would, if 
the second ratepayer were a company, result in its being the holding 
company of the other. 
 

4.5 In those cases where it is clear to us that the ratepayer is likely to breach the 
cash caps then we will automatically withhold the discount. In all cases, we will 
ask the ratepayers, on a self-assessment basis, to inform us if they are in 
breach of the cash caps. 

 

5. State Aid/Subsidy Control 
5.1  Whilst EU State Aid rules no longer apply within the UK following the end of 

the transition period on 31 December 2020, the UK still has several 

international obligations relating to subsidies. These include those arising from 

the UK’s continued membership of the World Trade Organisation, or from the 

UK-EU Trade and Cooperation Agreement. The Government considers that 

relief awarded under this scheme is not a subsidy. This means that local 

authorities should award relief to all eligible properties up to the caps specified 

in the guidance. 

 

Page 40



Appendix 1 

21 
 

6. Scheme Review 
6.1 The discount scheme will be reviewed in line with any changes made by 

Government in order to ensure that eligibility remains within Government 
guidance and relevant legislation. 

7. Data Protection 
7.1 Details of our data privacy policy can be found at 

www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/privacy-notice 

8. Equality and Diversity 
8.1 The Council remains committed to its obligations under the Public Sector 

Equality Duty and a ‘Customer First Analysis’ has been provided with this 
scheme. 

9. Appeals and complaints 
9.1 As a discretionary power, appeals against decisions made under this Discount 

Scheme are by way of judicial review and all complaints made directly to the 
authority will be handled in line with the Council’s complaints policy available 
at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/complaints  

Page 41

http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/privacy-notice
http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/complaints


 

22 
 

 
 

Non Domestic Rates  
Nursery Discount Scheme 2021/22 

 
April 2021 

 

1 Introduction  
1.1 This guidance is intended to support businesses in their application for and understanding of 

the Nursery Discount Scheme for 2021/22. 
 
1.2 This relief applies to hereditaments which are occupied by providers on Ofsted’s Early Years 

Register and which are wholly or mainly used for the provision of the Early Years Foundation 
Stage. There is no rateable value limit on the relief, however the relief is subject to a cash cap. 
Ofsted has ensured that all local authorities can access the Ofsted Early Years Register to 
support authorities identify eligible properties. 

 
1.3 As this is a measure for 2021/22 only, the Government is not changing the legislation relating 

to the reliefs available to properties. Instead the Government will, in line with the eligibility 
criteria set out in this guidance, reimburse local authorities that use their discretionary relief 
powers under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended), to grant 
relief.  

2 Eligibility 
2.1 Properties that will benefit from the relief will be hereditaments occupied by providers on 

Ofsted's Early Years Register and wholly or mainly used for the provision of the Early Years 
Foundation Stage.  

 
2.2 To qualify for the relief the hereditament should be wholly or mainly being used for the above 

qualifying purpose. In a similar way to other reliefs (such as charity relief), this is a test on use 
rather than occupation. Therefore, hereditaments which are occupied but not wholly or 
mainly used for the qualifying purpose will not qualify for the relief. For the avoidance of 
doubt, hereditaments which have closed temporarily due to the government’s advice on 
COVID19 should be treated as occupied for the purposes of this relief.  

 
2.3 The relief will be applied on a daily basis.  A new hereditament created as a result of a split or 

merger during the financial year, or where there is a change of use, will be considered afresh 
for relief on that day. 

Page 42



 

23 
 

3 Amount and Duration of Relief 
3.1 Subject to the cash cap outlined in section 4 of this scheme, the total amount of government-

funded relief available for each property for 2021/22 under this scheme is for chargeable days 

from 1 July 2021 to 31 March 2022: 66% of the chargeable amount. 

3.2 The relief will be applied after mandatory reliefs and other discretionary reliefs funded by 

Section 31 grants have been applied, excluding those where local authorities have used their 

wider discretionary relief powers introduced by the Localism Act which are not funded by 

section 31 grants. 

3.3 The Nursery Discount will be applied as a reduction to the overall business rates liability for 
2021/22; no cash alternative is available. 

 
3.4 Ratepayers who occupy more than one hereditaments may be entitled to the Retail Discount 

for each of their eligible hereditaments subject to the cash cap outlined in section 4 of this 
scheme. 

 

3.5 The standard payment arrangement for business rates is for the liability for the year to be paid 
in 10 or 12 instalments. However, for those eligible for the Nursery Discount for 2021/22 and 
2020/21 Scheme, this would mean those ratepayers having to make instalments in the first 
three months of the year when 100% relief is available. Therefore, we will ensure in 
accordance with Part 1, Schedule 1 of The Non-Domestic Rating (Collection and Enforcement) 
(Local Lists) (Regulations) 1989 (SI 1989/1058), as amended, that ratepayers eligible for the 
Extended Nursery Discount are not asked to make an instalment in respect of 2021/22 for the 
three month period of 100% relief is available for. An alternative instalment arrangement will 
be implemented for ratepayers which spreads the liability for the period from 1 July 2021 to 
31 March 2022 over some or all of the remaining nine months of the year. 

4. Cash Cap 
4.1 From 1 July 2021, a person may only receive Nursery Discount relief of up to £105,000 in 

2021/22, ignoring any relief for the period before 1 July 2021. 
 
4.2 No person can in any circumstance exceed the £105,000 cash cap across all of their 

hereditaments. 
 
4.3 Where a ratepayer has a qualifying connection with another ratepayer then those ratepayers 

should be considered as one ratepayer for the purposes of the cash caps. A ratepayer shall be 
treated as having a qualifying connection with another: 

 
a. where both ratepayers are companies, and 

i. one is a subsidiary of the other, or 
ii. both are subsidiaries of the same company; or 

b. where only one ratepayer is a company, the other ratepayer (the “second ratepayer”) 
has such an interest in that company as would, if the second ratepayer were a 
company, result in its being the holding company of the other. 
 

Page 43



 

24 
 

4.4 In those cases where it is clear to us that the ratepayer is likely to breach the cash caps then 
we will automatically withhold the discount. In all cases, we will ask the ratepayers, on a self-
assessment basis, to inform us if they are in breach of the cash caps. 

5. State Aid/Subsidy Control 
5.1 Whilst EU State Aid rules no longer apply within the UK following the end of the transition 

period on 31 December 2020, the UK still has several international obligations relating to 

subsidies. These include those arising from the UK’s continued membership of the World 

Trade Organisation, or from the UK-EU Trade and Cooperation Agreement. The Government 

considers that relief awarded under this scheme is not a subsidy. This means that local 

authorities should award relief to all eligible properties up to the caps specified in the 

guidance. 

6. Scheme Review 
6.1 The discount scheme will be reviewed in line with any changes made by Government in order 

to ensure that eligibility remains within Government guidance and relevant legislation. 

7. Data Protection 
7.1 Details of our data privacy policy can be found at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/privacy-notice 

8. Equality and Diversity 
8.1 The Council remains committed to its obligations under the Public Sector Equality Duty and a 

‘Customer First Analysis’ has been provided with this scheme. 

9. Appeals and complaints 
9.1 As a discretionary power, appeals against decisions made under this Discount Scheme are by 

way of judicial review and all complaints made directly to the authority will be handled in line 
with the Council’s complaints policy available at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/complaints 

Page 44

http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/privacy-notice


 

25 
 

 

Non Domestic Rates  
Retail Discount and Nursery Discount Scheme 

Customer First Analysis 
 

 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 
 
This analysis covers the Expanded and New National Non Domestic Rates Discount Schemes payable 
in the financial year 2021/22. The schemes provide guidance to local businesses which may be eligible 
to a discount on their business rates.  The schemes are delivered locally by billing authorities. 
 

 Who defines and manages it? 
 
The discount schemes are based on eligibility guidance provided by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government in March 2020 and 2021.  Hyndburn’s schemes are managed by 
the Benefits, Revenues and Customer Contact department under its remit to administer and collect 
business rates on behalf of the Council and preceptors. 
 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
 
It is intended that eligible local businesses will benefit from the discount schemes and that in turn will 
generate benefit for the local high street, local residents and visitors to the area.  It is intended that 
businesses can divert their existing business rates liabilities into support for staff during business 
closures and disruptions. 
 

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 
 
The schemes are clear on eligibility and the Council will be applying both discounts proactively in 
order to prevent any business not applying through lack of awareness.   
 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 
 
The schemes have both followed Government guidelines and as such customer involvement is not 
considered necessary at this stage.  Customers will be informed via normal communication methods 
and the schemes will be available online as well as in hard copy. 
 
2. Evidence 
 

 How will you know if the policy delivers its intended outcome / benefits?] 
 

Page 45



 

26 
 

Eligible businesses will benefit from a lower business rates bill which may support their staff and the 
viability of their business during the Government’s COVID-19 response efforts. 
 

 How satisfied are your customers and how do you know? 
 
In relation to these schemes, it is not possible to say at this stage, these schemes have to be 
implemented as quickly as is reasonably possible. 
 

 What existing data do you have on the people that use the service and the wider population? 
 
We hold relevant data on our Business Rates customers which allows us to identify eligible businesses 
and make awards. 
 

 What other information would it be useful to have?  How could you get this? 
 

None at this stage. 
 

 Are you breaking down data by equality groups where relevant (such as by gender, age, 
disability, ethnicity, sexual orientation, marital status, religion and belief, pregnancy and 
maternity)? 

 
Not relevant to this scheme. 
 

 Are you using partners, stakeholders, and councillors to get information and feedback? 
 
Not relevant to this scheme. 
 
3. Impact 
 

 Are some people benefiting more – or less - than others?  If so, why might this be? 
 
Each scheme closely follows guidance set out by Government. 
 
4. Actions 
 

 If the evidence suggests that the policy / service / function benefits a particular group – or 
disadvantages another - is there a justifiable reason for this and if so, what is it? 

 
It is considered that smaller high street retailers and childcare providers are in greater need of these 
discounts than larger retailers and industrial businesses – however rateable value limits have been 
raised for some businesses making the schemes more encompassing of the range of local businesses. 
 

 Is it discriminatory in any way? 
 
No – the only defining criteria is the size of the hereditament and the type of business, none of which 
are based on any protected characteristics of the businesses or the customers. 

Page 46



 

27 
 

 

 Is there a possible impact in relationships or perceptions between different parts of the 
community? 

 
The discount is available to a broad range of businesses throughout Hyndburn. 
 

 What measures can you put in place to reduce disadvantages? 
 
n/a 
 

 Do you need to consult further? 
 
Not at this stage. 
 

 Have you identified any potential improvements to customer service? 
 
The discounts will be administered proactively with an opt-out declaration for those who may not be 
eligible or who wish to refuse the discounts.  It is intended that this will provide immediate financial 
support to eligible businesses, eliminate any application delays and provide the discounts to 
ratepayers who may be ignorant of the schemes and would therefore miss out by not applying.   
 

 Who should you tell about the outcomes of this analysis? 
 
This analysis forms part of the submission of the discount scheme to Council. 
 

 Have you built the actions into your Business Plan with a clear timescale? 
n/a 
 

 When will this assessment need to be repeated? 
 
With any major changes to the scheme in the future. 

 
Name:_Rachael Walker  
 
Service Area:__Benefits, Revenues and Customer Contact _ 
Dated:___June 2021 

 
 
 

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 17th March, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Paul Cox (Vice 

Chair), Loraine Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Jenny Molineux and 
Joyce Plummer 
 

In Attendance: Councillors June Harrison, Marlene Haworth and Kath Pratt 

  

 
This was a virtual meeting held using MS Teams and livestreamed on You Tube. 

 
166 Apologies for Absence 

 
There were no apologies for absence submitted on this occasion. 
 

167 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

168 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 10th February 2021 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

169 Minutes of Committees, Boards, Panels and Working Groups 
 
The minutes of the following meeting were submitted: 
 

 Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) – 10th February 2021 

 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, commented that a further 
meeting of the Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) would take place after this meeting. 
 

170 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 
There were no verbal reports provided on this occasion. 
 

171 Rent and Service Charge Concessions for the Indoor Market Hall 
 
Councillor Paul Cox, Deputy Leader of the Council, provided a report seeking approval for 
the existing Cabinet approved scheme, which allowed for support to be provided to 
registered charitable organisations, to be extended to unregistered charitable organisations 
or such other social or community organisations whose aims, objectives or purposes were 
for public benefit and/or not for profit basis. 
 
Councillor P Cox highlighted that this proposal followed a report taken in August 2020 to 
support charitable organisations.  However, it had become apparent that there were other 

Page 49

Agenda Item 9.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

bodies established on a not for profit basis, which were not covered by the previous 
approval.  The intention was to standardise the approach taken in respect of all such 
bodies. 
 
Councillor Marlene Haworth, Leader of the Opposition, commented that she understood the 
rationale for the decision, but had some concerns that the change would lead to the indoor 
Market Hall becoming filled with charity stalls.  There was already a large number of such 
outlets within the Borough.  She suggested that a cross-party working group be established 
to develop a new plan for the Market Hall.  A lot of money had already been invested in the 
Market Hall infrastructure and more might be required.  Councillor Haworth and others had 
a wealth of ideas about its future and were passionate about the need for it to be 
successful.  Councillor Kath Pratt, Deputy Leader of the Opposition, suggested that there 
should be an overall limit on the number of charitable stalls allowed. 
 
The Leader of the Council indicated that, yesterday evening, the first meeting had taken 
pace of the Steering Group to discuss use of the Levelling Up Fund monies.  The project 
envisaged all stakeholders working together to secure the best possible outcomes. 
 
Councillor P Cox responded that he appreciated Councillor Haworth’s comments and 
acknowledged that the report could be interpreted as opening the floodgates to charity 
stalls.  However, the reality was that this was a change to ensure that all not for profit 
organisations were treated equally.  Individual lettings would be at the discretion of the 
Market Hall management.  Such lettings were on very short term leases only. 
 
Over the last 12 months lots of schemes had been implemented to draw in businesses into 
the Market Hall, including staggered rent for new stall holders, gradually increasing from 
zero over a period of 4 months.  Take up on the balcony had already started to increase.  
However, growth was difficult in the face of the pandemic.  Councillor P Cox had visited the 
Market last Wednesday to speak to traders.  They were optimistic that footfall was starting 
to increase.  Not for profit organisations would be only part of the mix of stalls inside the 
Market Hall.  Councillor Parkinson summarised by stating that the Market Hall would not be 
considered in isolation.  Last night’s meeting on Levelling Up had demonstrated that the 
right expert advice was needed and the right stakeholders would need to be involved in the 
regeneration of the high street. 
  
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Cabinet had approved a scheme in August 2020 which supported registered charitable 
organisations.  However, it was now acknowledged that some organisations whose 
purposes might be ‘not for profit’ or for ‘community benefit’, did not fall within the general 
definition of a registered charity, but which Cabinet might nevertheless wish to support.  
 
Some charitable organisations might not necessarily be registered at the Charity 
Commission due to their low income levels.  Some community or not for profit organisations 
and social enterprises might adopt a legal structure which meant that they were not 
registered at the Charity Commission e.g. a Community Benefit Society regulated by the 
Financial Conduct Authority, or they might be non-charitable but not for profit e.g. a 
Community Interest Company. 
 
It was proposed that the Executive Director Environment be given delegated authority, 
following consultation with the Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder, and at their sole 
discretion, to offer charitable organisations or other such organisations which were not for 
profit and whose purposes were for community or public benefit, a lease at a peppercorn 

Page 50



 
 
 

 

 
3 

rent and no service charge.  This was on condition that the lease was excluded from 
statutory security of tenure and could be terminated by the Council on short notice (such as 
two months or otherwise as the Executive Director decided, where a new tenant was 
offering to pay full rent and service charges). 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection/ 
 
If the recommendation was not approved, unregistered charitable organisations, and such 
other organisations whose aims objects or purposes were for public benefit and/or not for 
profit would either have to sign up to a lease at the appropriate full rent and service charges 
or leave the indoor Marker Hall. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet approves a discretionary scheme 

which permits support for both registered and 
unregistered charitable organisations, and such 
other organisations whose aims, objectives or 
purposes are for public benefit and/or not for profit, 
through peppercorn rents and no service charge as 
set out in paragraph 3.3 of this report and that 
authority be delegated to the Executive Director 
(Environment) to implement the discretionary 
scheme, following consultation with the Leader of 
the Council and Portfolio Holder accordingly. 

 
172 DFT Statutory Guidance - Proposed Amendments to the Taxi & Private Hire 

Licensing Policy 
 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report to advise 
Members of the outcome of the recent consultation relating to the changes to the taxi 
licensing policy, following the release of the new Statutory Guidance introduced by the 
Secretary of State for Transport relating to taxi and private hire licensing.  The report also 
sought approval of the new Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Policy. 
 
Councillor Plummer advised that the focus of the statutory standards was on protection of 
children and vulnerable adults, but would benefit all.  Common standards were required, 
which had been discussed nationally with the trade.  The Department for Transport (DFT) 
expected the standards to be implemented.  The Council had considered them carefully 
and reviewed its own policy in the light of the new guidance and carried out appropriate 
consultations with the taxi trade, public and other stakeholders.  No responses had been 
received to the consultation.  The report included a summary of the changes required to 
Hyndburn Borough Council’s Licensing Policy. 

 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
In July 2020 the Department for Transport (DFT) had issued new statutory guidance to 
licensing authorities responsible for the issuing of licences and regulating those in the taxi 
and private hire industry.  The guidance set out taxi and private hire vehicle standards.  The 
guidance stated that 'the Department has carefully considered the measures contained in 
the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards and had recommend that these 
should be put in to practice and administered appropriately to mitigate the risk posed to the 
public.  The purpose of setting standards was to protect children and vulnerable adults, and 
by extension the wider public, when using taxis and private hire vehicles.' 
 

Page 51



 
 
 

 

 
4 

The DFT had stated that the Statutory Guidance had been issued because 'there is 
evidence to support the view that taxis and private hire vehicles are a high-risk 
environment. In terms of risks to passengers, this can be seen in abuse and exploitation of 
children and vulnerable adults facilitated and in some cases perpetrated by the trade and 
the number of sexual crimes reported which involve taxi and private hire vehicle drivers.  
Links between the trade and child sexual abuse and exploitation have been established in 
many areas and other investigations continue.  Data on reported sexual assaults by taxi 
and private hire vehicle drivers evidence the risk to passengers; data from Greater 
Manchester and Merseyside suggest that, if similar offence patterns are applied across 
England, 623 sexual assaults per year are reported.  These figures do not however account 
for the under reporting of crime which is estimated to be as high as 83 percent in the Crime 
Survey for England and Wales.' 
 
The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enabled the Secretary of State for Transport to issue 
statutory guidance on exercising taxi and private hire vehicle licensing functions to protect 
children and vulnerable individuals who were over 18 from harm when using these services. 
For the purposes of this document, a child was defined as anyone who had not yet reached 
their 18th birthday; and the term “vulnerable individual” had the same meaning as the 
definition of a ‘vulnerable adult’ for the purpose of section 42 of the Care Act 2014, which 
applied where a local authority had reasonable cause to suspect that an adult in its area 
(whether or not ordinarily resident there):  
 

(a) had needs for care and support (whether or not the authority was meeting any of 

those needs),  

(b) was experiencing, or was at risk of, abuse or neglect, and  

(c) as a result of those needs was unable to protect himself or herself against the abuse 

or neglect or the risk of it.  

 
Further the guidance went on to say 'whilst the focus of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Standards is on protecting children and vulnerable adults, all passengers will 
benefit from the recommendations contained in it.  There is consensus that common core 
minimum standards are required to regulate better the taxi and private hire vehicle sector, 
and the recommendations in this document are the result of detailed discussion with the 
trade, regulators and safety campaign groups.  The Department therefore expects these 
recommendations to be implemented unless there is a compelling local reason not 
to.' (DFT emphasis). 
 
The document set out a framework of policies that, under section 177(4), licensing 
authorities “must have regard” to when exercising their functions.  These functions 
included developing, implementing and reviewing their taxi and private hire vehicle licensing 
regimes. “Having regard” was more than having a cursory glance at a document before 
arriving at a preconceived conclusion. 
 
“Having regard” to these standards required public authorities, in formulating a policy, to 
give considerations the weight which was proportionate in the circumstances.  Given that 
the standards had been set directly to address the safeguarding of the public and the 
potential impact of failings in this area, the importance of thoroughly considering these 
standards could not be overstated.  It was not a question of box ticking; the standards 
would have to be considered rigorously and with an open mind. 
 
Although it remained the case that licensing authorities would have to reach their own 
decisions, both on overall policies and on individual licensing matters in light of the relevant 
law, it might be that the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards might be drawn 
upon in any legal challenge to an authority’s practice, and that any failure to adhere to the 

Page 52



 
 
 

 

 
5 

standards without sufficient justification could be detrimental to the authority’s defence.  In 
the interest of transparency, all licensing authorities should publish their consideration of 
the measures contained in Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards, and the 
policies and delivery plans that stem from these.  The Department had undertaken to 
monitor the effectiveness of the standards in achieving the protection of children and 
vulnerable adults (and by extension all passengers). 
 
It followed then that the Council, as the licensing authority, must have regard to the 
statutory guidance and amend its policy accordingly and, unless there were compelling 
local reasons not to do so, the statutory guidance should be followed. 
 
On the whole Hyndburn Borough Council's Policy aligned quite well with the new guidance.  
Members were reminded that in October 2018 the Council had adopted the Institute of 
Licensing (IOL) Policy on determining the suitability of applicants in the hackney carriage 
and private hire trade and the DFT had consulted with the IOL and had adopted the same 
convictions policy. 
 
The new guidance did require some amendments to the Council’s policy if it were to be 
brought totally in line.  The amendments, as detailed in the report, are summarised below: 
 

 6 monthly DBS checks on drivers; 

 Licence holders should be required to notify the issuing authority within 48 hours of 

an arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any offence 

involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence; 

 All existing licence holders would be required to undertake safeguarding training, 

which must include County Lines training.  New applicants would be dealt with 

differently, as set out in the report; 

 Private hire operators would be required to keep a register for 6 months of staff who 

were concerned with the booking and despatching of vehicles; and 

 Private hire operators would be required to produce a policy on employing ex-

offenders. 

 
Accordingly, there were only minimal changes required to the Council’s policy to bring it in 
line with the statutory requirements, and the proposals had been consulted upon locally.  
The Council had not received any response to the consultation other than verbal approval 
to some of the changes from some of the larger operators. 
 
The Policy had, therefore, been updated to include the changes and to consolidate all of the 
information relating to the rules and regulations and the Council’s convictions policy into 
one document.  A copy of the proposed policy had been appended to the report. 
 

There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet approves the introduction of the 

updated Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Policy to 
bring it in line with DFT requirements. 

 
173 Proposed Sale of Land at Church Canal Gateway, Blackburn Road, Church, 

Accrington 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio for Housing and Regeneration, provided a report informing 
Cabinet of the interest and bids received for the land on Church Canal Gateway, Blackburn 
Road, Church, Accrington, BB5 4HP, and seeking Cabinet’s approval to dispose of the 

Council’s interest in the site to the preferred bidder as set out in this report. 

Page 53



 
 
 

 

 
6 

 
Councillor L Cox confirmed that she was delighted to bring this report to the Cabinet, which 
would involve disposal of the site for retail or leisure use.  The site had been advertised and 
significant interest had been shown with the top four highest bids listed in the report.  
Acceptance of the highest offer, Bid A, was being recommended, subject to satisfactory 
terms being agreed and with the necessary delegations in place to finalise the 
arrangements. 
 
The Leader of the Council commented that he was pleased to see another brownfield site 
released for regeneration, as this site had remained undeveloped for some time.  The area 
was a key site at the Church Gateway and its redevelopment would provide new amenities 
for the residents of Church. 
 
Councillor Marlene Haworth registered her support for the project and asked if she could be 
made aware of the type of retail or leisure development proposed.  The Leader indicated 
that this could be made available privately to her, but at present the retailer wished to 
remain unnamed to protect commercial confidentiality. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad also expressed support for the sale of the land and thanked the 
Portfolio Holder and officers for their work in bringing this project to fruition over the last four 
years, or so.  This was a prime spot for redevelopment. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The Church Canal Gateway site extended to approximately 1.57 acres.  The site had 
formerly been housing and was, therefore, not designated within the local plan, but 
discussions with the planning team had indicated support for mixed use, especially 
employment.  Retail use was not ruled out, but would require a sequential test to show that 
the town centre or other sites were not practical in terms of availability, suitability, or 
viability.  The site was also subject to “Planning Advice for Developments near Hazardous 
Installations” (PADHI) due to its close proximity to Blyth’s.  Previous advice had indicated 
that employment and retail uses were likely to be supported by the PADHI requirements, 
but this would need confirming. 
 
The Council’s in-house valuer had produced an updated valuation appraisal of the site 
based on a GDV (gross development value, costs and profit margin) that had resulted in a 
site value of £450,000, reflecting circa £260,000 per acre. 
 
The site had been placed on the open market by Trevor Dawson at the end of November 
2020, requesting that all offers be submitted to the Estates Team at HBC in writing by the 
20th December 2020.  In total, the Council had received 11 offers, all in varying degrees of 
detail, with the two highest offers (Bids A and B as set out in the report) in line with the 
Council’s valuations.  Cabinet was now being requested to review these two proposals and 
make a recommendation. 
 
For comparison, the top four highest bids to acquire the freehold for the Church Canal 
Gateway site were summarised in the report.  After careful consideration Cabinet were 
invited to support Bid A, an outline of which was a follows: 
 

 Offer: £500,000 subject to an exclusivity agreement and planning consent. 

 Use: Retail and Leisure. 

 Business Rates Annually: Estimated at £126,000 to £150,000 per annum. 

Page 54



 
 
 

 

 
7 

 Employment: 40/50 during construction and 25 once operational. 

 Bidder: A specialised retail land promotion company with a regional presence. 

 
The following reasons were given for Bid A being the preferred bidder:  
 

 It was the highest bid for the site; 

 There was a significant lack of retail locally and, therefore, the use as retail and 

leisure was the most suitable use in the locality; and 

 The proposal wouldl provide additional business rate revenue and provide local 

employment. 

 
Bidder A was a specialist retail land company with a regional presence, representing a 
strong interest from a retailer that wished to remain unnamed at this stage to protect 
commercial confidentiality.  The bidder was insisting on the Council granting an exclusivity 
agreement for a period of up to three months to finalise legal terms and to prepare a 
planning application.  Bidder “A” was also seeking legal terms that would make the 
proposed disposal subject to securing a satisfactory planning consent for retail and leisure 
use. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection/ 
 
The Council could consider not selling the site: however, subject to the response to the 
public open space consultation, this option was not recommended because the proposed 
disposal provided the Council with an opportunity to generate a capital receipt and at the 
same time, redevelop the area for the social, environmental and economic wellbeing of the 
Borough. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet:  
 

(1) Considers the bids for the Council’s interest in the 
Church Canal Gateway site and agrees to the 
proposed disposal of the site to bidder “A” for the 
reasons set out in paragraph 3.5 of the report 
subject to a decision being made to proceed with 
the sale pursuant to recommendation (2) and 
subject to satisfactory terms being agreed in 
accordance with recommendation (3). 

 
(2) Approves the advertisement of the Council’s 

intention to dispose of public open space in 
accordance with Section 123(2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and delegates authority to the 
Head of Regeneration and Housing to consider any 
responses received and, following consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, 
to decide whether to proceed with the disposal of 
the Church Canal Gateway site.  

 
(3) Subject to a decision being made to proceed with 

the sale pursuant to recommendation (2): 
 

(i) Delegates authority to the Head of Regeneration 

and Housing to agree the terms for the disposal 

of the Council’s interest in the site at Church 

Page 55



 
 
 

 

 
8 

Canal Gateway with bidder “A”, following 

consultation with the Executive Director (Legal 

and Democratic Services); and 

 
(ii) Following agreement of terms for the disposal 

of the Council’s interest in the Church Canal 

Gateway site, authorises the Executive 

Director (Legal and Democratic Services) to 

finalise and execute all legal documents and 

arrangements to secure the disposal of the 

Church Canal Gateway site to bidder “A”. 

 
With the approval of the Cabinet the following two items were taken next on the Agenda. 
 

174 Grant of Lease of King George V Playing Fields, Car Park & Associated Changing 
Pavilion to Accrington Stanley FC 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council provided a report seeking approval 

from Cabinet to grant a lease of part of King George V Playing Fields in Accrington, 

including associated car park and changing pavilion to Accrington Stanley FC Limited and 

to agree the arrangements for the grant of the proposed lease. 

The report also sought approval for the dedication of Oak Hill Park, Accrington, to Fields in 

Trust, and the dedication of King George V Playing Fields to Fields in Trust, if required, and 

the entry into all other ancillary agreements with third party interests as might be required in 

order to facilitate the grant of the above lease. 

The Leader of the Council referred to a minor correction to paragraph 2.2 of the report, 
which should refer to ‘paragraph 3.18’ not ‘paragraph 3.8’.  The Leader indicated that 
Accrington Stanley FC (ASFC) were a national brand and the club was in need of 
appropriate training facilities.  The Council owned a site at King George V Playing Fields, 
which was currently not used to its full potential.  Accordingly, the needs of both 
organisations were closely aligned.  It was, therefore, proposed to grant a lease for the use 
of the site to ASFC on the terms set out in the report. 
 
Additional agreements might be required with Fields in Trust, Sport England, the Football 
Foundation and the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local Government to 
facilitate the lease. 
 
Accrington Stanley FC was going from strength to strength and was a source of pride to 
both residents and supporters from further afield.  In order to stay at the level of 
professional football currently enjoyed, the ASFC would require access to similar facilities to 
other League 1 clubs.  The site overlooked the town of which they club were a part.  The 
club would make a significant investment in the site and there would be some community 
use available.  The financial contribution from the football club to the Council, in the sum of 
£550k, could be reinvested in the development of other leisure facilities, such as those at 
Wilsons Playing Fields. 
 
Under the stewardship of Andy Holt, ASFC had emerged from a difficult financial position 
and was fully now engaged with the Council in realising its plans and ambition.  The club 
attracted thousands of visitors to the town, with hotels and pubs all benefiting from the 
additional trade. 

 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 

Page 56



 
 
 

 

 
9 

 
Reason for Decision 
 
The detailed reasons for the decision were set out in the report, which included information 
on the following: 
 

 Previous works on the site; 

 Community use agreement; 

 ASFC training needs and proposed usage of the site; 

 Changes to demand from community football; 

 Charities Commission and Fields in Trust matters and implications for Oakhill Park; 

 Section 123 Local Government ct 1972 - disposal of land implications and 

procedure; 

 Valuation and economic, social or environmental well-being considerations; 

 Sports England and Football Foundation requirements; 

 Heads of Terms; 

 Anticipated benefits to both the Borough and football club; and 

 Capital receipt and anticipated revenue savings. 

 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection/ 
 
Not to lease the King George V Playing Fields, including associated car park and changing 
pavilion to Accrington Stanley FC.  This was not recommended because leasing the site to 
ASFC would help to facilitate the club’s development and ensure increased use and 
development of this underutilised site, which incurred costs of £30,000 per annum. 
 
Marketing the site for development to ascertain if its full unrestricted value could be 
undertaken, although this had not been a consideration to date as the site was not currently 
allocated for development. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet:  
 

(1) Approves the advertisement of the Council’s 
intention to dispose of public open space in 
accordance with Section 123(2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and delegates authority to the 
Head of Regeneration and Housing to consider any 
responses received and, following consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, 
to decide whether to proceed with the disposal; and  

 
(2) Subject to the outcome of the decision at (1) and, if 

required, to the consent of the Secretary of State for 
Housing Communities and Local Government, 
agrees to lease King George V Playing Fields in 
Accrington including associated car park and 
changing pavilion (as shown edged red on the plan 
attached to the report) to Accrington Stanley 
Football Club Limited on the terms set out in 
paragraph 3.18 of this report being in any event 
satisfied that the disposal is likely to contribute 
towards the achievement of any one or more of the 
following to the Borough or any persons within it: 

Page 57



 
 
 

 

 
10 

 
i) the promotion or improvement of economic well-

being; 

ii) the promotion or improvement of social well-

being; 

iii) the promotion or improvement of environmental 

well-being; and  

 
(3) Delegates authority to the Head of Housing and 

Regeneration, in consultation with the Executive 
Director of Legal and Democratic Services and 
Portfolio Holder, to agree the detailed terms of the 
lease with Accrington Stanley Football Club Limited; 
and 

 
(4) Delegates authority to the Head of Housing and 

Regeneration, in consultation with the portfolio 
holder to agree the detailed terms of any documents 
or other agreements required by Fields in Trust, 
Sport England and the Football Foundation in 
connection with the proposed lease and thereafter 
to instruct Legal Services to complete the lease to 
Accrington Stanley Football Club Limited and any 
documents or other agreements with Sport England, 
Fields in Trust and the Football Foundation that may 
be required to facilitate the grant of the lease; and 

 
(5) If required to facilitate the grant of the lease to 

Accrington Stanley Football Club Limited and 
subject to the consent of the Secretary of State for 
Housing Communities and Local Government, if 
required, agrees to the re-dedication of King George 
V Playing Fields to Fields in Trust in perpetuity 
being satisfied that the disposal is likely to 
contribute towards the achievement of any one or 
more of the following to the Borough or any persons 
within it: 

 
i) the promotion or improvement of economic well-

being; 

ii) the promotion or improvement of social well-

being; 

iii) the promotion or improvement of environmental 

well-being; and 

 
(6) If required to facilitate the grant of the lease to 

Accrington Stanley Football Club Limited and 
subject to the consent of the Secretary of State for 
Housing Communities and Local Government if 
found necessary, agrees to the dedication of Oakhill 
Park Accrington (shown edged blue at Appendix 2 to 
the report) or part thereof to Fields in Trust in 
perpetuity being satisfied that the disposal is likely 
to contribute towards the achievement of any one or 

Page 58



 
 
 

 

 
11 

more of the following to the Borough or any persons 
within it: 

 
i) the promotion or improvement of economic well-

being; 

ii) the promotion or improvement of social well-

being; 

iii) the promotion or improvement of environmental 

well-being. 

 
175 Financial Position January 2021 - Report for the Year Ending 31st March 2021 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report informing 
Cabinet of the financial spending of the Council up to the end of January 2021 and the 
financial forecast outturn position for the Accounting Year 2020/21. 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted key elements of the report, as follows: 
 

 The adverse variance forecast had been reduced to £225,000 from an original 

forecast of between £1M – £2M; 

 But for COVID-19 the Council would have returned a surplus; 

 Additional grants and further savings had helped the Council’s position; 

 Potential losses and the uncertain position at Hyndburn Leisure had now been 

stabilised.  A bid for £170k support from Government was likely to be successful, 

but would be split over 2 years (£50k for 2020/21 and £120 for 2021/22).  The 

Council would need to cover the £120k shortfall in 2020/21, which equated to 

around half of the Council’s adverse variance. 

 
Councillor Marlene Haworth enquired about the reason for the additional staffing costs for 
Regeneration and Property Services, in the sum of £228k (paragraph 3.8 of the report 
refers).  This did not appear to be consistent with the practice of redeploying staff, as 
necessary, during the pandemic.  It would be useful to receive an explanation of how the 
additional costs were incurred.  The Leader indicated that the Portfolio Holder would 
provide a written response on this point. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The spend for the first 10 months of the financial year to the end of January 2021 was 
£9,382,000 compared to a Budget of £10,919,000 giving a positive variance of £1,537,000 
over the first 9 months of the year. 
 
The current forecast spend to the end of the financial year in March 2021 was £11,452,000 
compared to a Budget of £11,227,000.  This forecast produced an adverse variance of 
£225,000 by the end of the financial year.  The adverse variance across the Council was 
attributable to the impact of COVID-19 on the Council’s overall financial position, requiring it 
to spend additional sums to address the impact of the pandemic while at the same time 
suffering a reduction in its income, due to the downturn in economic activity stemming from 
the pandemic. 
 
The predicted level of variance against the Budget could be managed within the Council’s 
overall reserves. 

Page 59



 
 
 

 

 
12 

 
The financial detail was set out in a table at the end of the document and the report also 

included more detailed commentary about expenditure in the following service areas: 

 Environmental Services; 

 Culture and Leisure Services; 

 Planning and Transportation ; 

 Regeneration and Property Services; 

 Policy and Corporate Governance; and 

 Non Service Items. 

 
The figures for service areas include estimated losses in income due to the pandemic less 
additional specific Government funding to help offset some of the losses incurred.  Overall, 
the authority had estimated a loss in income across the Council of £1,043,000 and had 
assumed the Government would provide a grant of £593,000 to offset those losses.  The 
estimate was based around the Government guidance issued in this area.  This process 
was subject to further review and a year-end reconciliation under the Government’s rules 
around this grant, so the figures were subject to confirmation and revision.  This would only 
take place after the financial year-end.  As such they could move upwards or downwards as 
a consequence, potentially by significant amounts as the scheme was new and untested. 
 
The estimates around expenditure necessary to fight COVID-19 were subject to more 
uncertainty than in the normal forecasting of expenditure, given the unprecedented 
demands and changing nature in this area and, therefore, these forecasts were subject to 
larger variance than usual within a local authority Budget. 
 
The Council expected a substantial increase in the non-payment of Council Tax and 
Business Rates, as well as a large rise in the numbers of Council Tax Support Claimants 
due to the pandemic.  Due to the statutory requirements around accounting for these 
transactions the losses in these areas this year would not manifest themselves until future 
year budgets and would be dealt with by adjustments to the Council’s revenue levels in 
later years. 
 
The Government had potentially indicated that it would ensure all Tier 3 Councils were able 
to balance their 2020/21 and 2021/22 Budgets and, therefore, funding might be available to 
reduce the adverse variance to zero by the end of the year.  However, at this stage no 
details had been provided around this potential extra financial support that might be 
available and, therefore, this funding was not included within this Budget forecast. 
 
The level of adverse variance currently predicted would need to be funded from existing 
reserves if the extra funding did not materialise.  The existing level of Council Reserves 
would be able to absorb such an adverse variance without a major impact on the Council’s 
overall financial position. 
 

There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes the report on the financial 

position as at January 2021 and asks Corporate 
Management Team to continue to reduce costs and 
increase income over the remaining weeks of the 
financial year. 

 
176 Exclusion of the Public 

 

Page 60



 
 
 

 

 
13 

Resolved - That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
177 Urgent Decisions Taken 

 
 
Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decisions taken under the urgency procedure:- 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio 
Holder 

Date of 
Approval 

(a) Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme - Grant 
offer and proposed delivery arrangements 

Cllr M 
Parkinson 
OBE 

25th February 
2021 

 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decision taken. 
 

178 Proposed Disposal of the Council's Land Known as Clayton Triangle 
 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, provided a report 
seeking the Cabinet’s approval to the disposal of the Council’s interest in the land known as 
Clayton Triangle, for residential development as set out in the report. 
 
Councillor L Cox was pleased to report the substantial progress made in relation to this key 
brownfield site.  There had been lots of interest in the site over the years, but until now 
nothing had come to fruition.  The Council was working closely with the developer and 
current land owners to make the site available for a good quality housing development. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 

Page 61



 
 
 

 

 
14 

Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 
report be approved. 

 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 62



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 9th June, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Paul Cox (Vice 

Chair), Loraine Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP and Joyce Plummer 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Peter Britcliffe, June Harrison, Marlene Haworth and Paddy 
Short 

  

 
15 Apologies for Absence 

 
There were no apologies for absence submitted on this occasion. 
 

16 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP, declared a personal interest in connection with Agenda 
Items 5 and 11 Urgent Decisions Taken, in connection with his role as a member of the 
Board of Trustees of Hyndburn Leisure. 
 
There were no reported dispensations. 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE made a brief announcement as follows:- 
 
“I can report that following the statements made at Council highlighting concerns about 
financial inducement, all matters have now been referred to the Police so that we can 
uncover any improper activity or alternatively receive the appropriate reassurance.” 
 

17 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 17th March 2021 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
In respect of Minute 171 - Rent and Service Charge Concessions for the Indoor Market 
Hall, Councillor Peter Britcliffe, Joint Deputy Leader of the Opposition, enquired what 
support was available for existing stall holders.  Councillor Paul Cox, Deputy Leader of the 
Council, responded that a 30% reduction had been granted prior to the pandemic and a 
further 22.5% had been applied during the COVID outbreak.  A number of other 
concessions had also been made.  Full details could be provided outside of the meeting. 
 
In respect of Minute 173 - Proposed Sale of Land at Church Canal Gateway, Councillor 
Peter Britcliffe noted that the proposals had been on-going for some time and queried 
whether there remained restrictions on housing development on the land due to 
neighbouring chemical industries.  He asked how hopeful the Council was of the proposals 
coming to fruition.  Mark Hoyle, Head of Regeneration and Housing Services, indicated that 
the land was subject to a current planning application.  It was likely that housing would be 
excluded from the site, but a commercial development remained a strong possibility.  The 
Council was hopeful that the site would be developed and was in touch with the agents 
acting on behalf of the developer.  There had also been wider interest expressed in the site 
at an earlier stage. 
 

Page 63



 
 
 

 

 
2 

In connection with Minute 174 – Grant of Lease of King George V Playing Fields to 
Accrington Stanley FC (ASFC), Councillor Marlene Howarth, Leader of the Opposition, 
asked if the site would still be accessible to the general public.  She expressed concern that 
the site might no longer be available for informal recreation, but would only be open for 
organised sports.  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, responded that 
the proposal was the subject of negotiations between the Sport England, ASFC and the 
Council.  The site would be mainly for the use of ASFC, but there would be some 
interaction with the community.  Mr Hoyle reported that there would be a community use 
agreement in place giving wider access through schools and ASFC’s own academy.  
Community use was likely to be a condition of the planning approval.  However, the site 
would be fenced off for security reasons, meaning that residents would not have the same 
unrestricted access.  The Leader of the Council added that the situation was not unlike that 
of Highams Playing Field.  The site had previously cost a lot for the Council to maintain and 
was under-used by formal bookings, at less than 2 hours per week.  There remained other 
recreational space in the vicinity. 
 
Regarding Minute 175 – Financial Position January 2021, Councillor Peter Britcliffe asked 
about the total amount of Government support to Hyndburn during the Coronavirus 
pandemic.  The Leader and Joe McIntyre, Deputy Chief Executive, indicated that at the last 
reckoning this had been around £37M in Business Support Grants and furlough money, as 
well as around £2M paid directly to the Council.  Councillor Britcliffe asked about the reason 
for the positive variance of £1.53M for the first 10 months, compared to the anticipated 
adverse variance forecast at year end of £225k.  He also sked if there was any evidence 
that the Government would meet its promise that all authorities would be able to balance 
their books at year end.  The Leader responded that Council expenditure had slowed during 
the early phases of the pandemic, but then the on-going impacts had started to become a 
factor.  The Deputy Chief Executive added that a further factor was that the Government 
had given some grants early on to fund the immediate crisis in September and October 
2020, but that had started to be used up, leading to the predictions of an adverse variance.  
The Government’s promise about balancing the books had been noted, but noting further 
had been heard about the details.  Notwithstanding the above, the Council was in a much 
better financial position than had been first thought. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

18 Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups 
 
The minutes of the following meeting were submitted: 
 

 Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) – 17th March 2021 

 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

19 Urgent Decisions Taken 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decisions taken under the urgency procedure: 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio 
Holder 

Date of 
Approval 

(a) National Recovery Leisure Fund (NRLF) 
Award 

Councillor 
Munsif Dad 
BEM JP 

23rd March 2021 

Page 64



 
 
 

 

 
3 

(b) Appointment of an external expert consultant 
to work on the Council’s Levelling Up Fund bid 

Councillor 
Miles 
Parkinson 
OBE 

26th March 2021 

(c) Super Slow Way project contribution Councillor 
Munsif Dad 
BEM JP 

22nd April 2021 

 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP highlighted some key elements of the decision taken around 
the NRLF and the reasons for urgency. 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE outlined the members of the interview selection panel for 
the Levelling Up consultants, Bradshaw Advisory, and their two main tasks: 
 

 to work with the Stakeholder Group review the Accrington Area Plan 2012 and to 

produce an new Strategic Town Centre Investment Plan and 

 to utilise their proven experience when submitting the bids for projects for inclusion 

in the Council’s Round 2 Levelling Up Fund submission, the date of which was likely 

to be announced in the Autumn. 

 
The Stakeholder Group had also met on a number of occasions to discuss with the Design 
Council a shared vision for Accrington Town Centre and to consider partnership models 
and a governance structure to oversee stakeholder engagement. 
 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decisions taken. 
 

20 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 
There were no verbal reports provided on this occasion. 
 

21 Portfolio Responsibilities 2021/22 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE provided a list of the Cabinet Portfolio Holders and details 
of their respective Portfolio responsibilities for 2021/22.  A summary the Portfolios is as 
follows: 
 

 Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE – Leader of the Council 

 Councillor Paul Cox – Deputy Leader of the Council 

 Councillor Loraine Cox – Regeneration and Wellbeing 

 Councillor Joyce Plummer – Resources 

 Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP – Education, Leisure and Arts 

 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The decision of the Leader with regard to the appointment of the Cabinet for 2021/22 was 
reported to Members for information purposes. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - To note the decision of the Leader of the Council in 

respect of the size of the Cabinet, the appointment 

Page 65



 
 
 

 

 
4 

of its Members and the allocation of areas of 
responsibility to Cabinet Members. 

 
22 Appointment of Cabinet Committees and Cabinet Groups 2021/22 

 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, provided a report on the 
establishment of Cabinet Committees and Cabinet Groups for the 2021/22 Municipal Year 
and the appointment of members to those Committees and Groups. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
In June 2015, Cabinet had established the Cabinet Committee (Scrap Metal Dealers Act 
2013).  The Cabinet Committee determined whether to grant, renew, revoke or vary scrap 
metal licences pursuant to the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013, where the applicant or 
licensee (as the case may be) had informed the Council that they wished to make oral 
representations.  This enabled compliance with statutory requirements. 
 
In December 2017, Cabinet had established the Cabinet Committee (Street Naming).  The 
Cabinet Committee discharged the Council’s functions in respect of the naming and 
renaming of streets pursuant to Sections 17 and 18, Public Health Act 1925. 
 
In June 2018 the Cabinet had established the Cabinet Committee (Digital Committee).  The 
Cabinet Committee provided a forum for Cabinet to consider the impact of the digital 
economy on the Borough and its town centres in particular. 
 
In June 2015, Cabinet had also established the following three Cabinet Groups which acted 
in an advisory capacity to Cabinet and did not have any delegated or decision making 
powers: 
 

 Covenant Commemoration Working Group (formerly Accrington Pals Centenary 

Commemorations Group; 

 Cabinet Public Transport Group; and 

 Cabinet Waste and Recycling Group. 

 
It was proposed that the above Groups continued into 2021/22, subject to the following 
consideration.  An exercise had been undertaken by Member Services in July 2020 to 
ascertain the activity status of a number of Working Groups and Panels, as Coronavirus 
restrictions started to ease.  The Public Transport Group, had not met since November 
2016 and the Head of Planning and Transportation had identified this Group as potentially 
surplus to requirements.  It was acknowledged that some of the projects identified within the 
Group’s terms of reference had now been completed.  However, there were other matters, 
such as on-going rail transport considerations, which might warrant the continuation of this 
Group.  Members were, therefore, invited to confirm the retention of this Group. 
 
The terms of reference for all of the bodies were appended to the report and Cabinet was 
also asked to appoint Members to those bodies.  Members were asked to note that 
provision set out in the terms of reference of the three groups identified at Paragraph 3.4 of 
the report, for a nominee from the Independents (a notified political group which no longer 
existed in Hyndburn), would not normally be construed as applying to an individual 
Independent Member. 
 
The proposed membership was as follows:- 

Page 66



 
 
 

 

 
5 

 

Cabinet Committee (Scrap 
Metal Dealers Act 2013) 

Councillor Loraine Cox (Chair) 
Councillors Paul Cox and Miles Parkinson OBE 

Cabinet Committee (Street 
Naming) 

Councillor Loraine Cox (Chair) 
Councillors Munsif Dad and Miles Parkinson OBE 
Councillor Judith Addison (attending) 

Cabinet Committee (Digital 
Economy) 

Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP(Chair) 
Councillors Joyce Plummer and Paul Cox 

Covenant Commemoration 
Working Group 

Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (Chair) 
Councillors Judith Addison and Paddy Short 

Cabinet Public Transport 
Group 

Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (Chair) 
Councillors Judith Addison, Noordad Aziz, 
Michael Hindley and Tim O’Kane 

Cabinet Waste and Recycling 
Group 

Councillor Paul Cox (Chair) 
Councillors Michael Miller, Joyce Plummer and 
Kate Walsh 

 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
An option not to appoint any of the proposed Panels and Groups was considered, but would 
not meet the Cabinet’s need to establish effective arrangements for the discharge of 
specialist areas of its business. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet agrees to the establishment of the 

Cabinet Committees and Cabinet Groups, and with 
the terms of reference, as set out in the Appendix to 
the report. 

 
(2) That the membership of the Cabinet Committees and 

Cabinet Groups, as set out in paragraph 3.7 of the 
report be approved. 

 
23 Council Tax Data Sharing Agreement 

 
The Cabinet considered a report of Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for 
Resources, informing Members that the Council had been asked to enter into a Data 
Sharing Agreement (DSA) with the Office for National Statistics (ONS) for the purpose of 
sharing Council Tax data to ensure the Council supported ONS to deliver an accurate 
population count in the latest Census 21 and future ONS general statistical returns. 
 
Jane Ellis, Executive Director, Legal and Democratic Services, provided a brief introduction 
to the report.  The Council had initially be reluctant to enter into a formal agreement around 
data sharing, but had reconsidered the matter in the light of the fact that most authorities 
had now done so.  ONS had provided the necessary assurances around data security to 
the satisfaction of the Council. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reasons for decision  
 
Every decade the Office for National Statistics carried out a national Census and worked 
with local authorities to deliver a successful campaign encouraging the local community to 
participate to help plan for future needs, ensuring that big decisions facing the country were 
based on the best information possible. 

Page 67



 
 
 

 

 
6 

 
The Census was a way the country could help plan its way out of a pandemic and help 
underpin economic benefits by providing accurate low lying data which was used in many 
aspects of lives e.g., statistics to support decision making, to steer policy, allocating 
resources, funding bids, education and planning services.  Accordingly, it was beneficial 
that each area encouraged as many households as possible to complete the survey to 
provide an accurate picture and representation of their local area. 
 
The Council had been asked to share its Council Tax data on a monthly basis with the ONS 
to help improve the accuracy and quality of the Census both locally and nationally by 
entering into a Data Sharing Agreement with the ONS.  The ONS had also asked the 
Council to continue to share Council Tax data with it on an ongoing monthly basis once the 
work on the Census had concluded.  
 
The DSA contained a list of variables that would need to be extracted from the Council’s 
Revenue and Benefit System, which would include information such as name, address, 
Council Tax band, amount paid, reduction, amount liable, disability reduction, exemption 
type, and empty or second home supplied to ONS on a monthly basis using extraction 
software called MoveIt.  This would be managed on the authority’s behalf, unless the 
Council agreed to use a different software with ONS.  Then, the Council Tax Data would be 
stored securely in ONS’s Data Access Platform (DAP) and would be de-identified at the 
earliest possible point by business areas who would use it. 
 
Council Tax data would be key to quality assuring Census data.  Moreover, in the longer-
term term Council Tax data would be used to help ONS contribute towards statistics across 
many areas such as socio-economic indicators, housing stock, social mobility and so on.  
This would also enable ONS to produce timely, locally stratified data for councils across the 
country. 
 
ONS would only use the data provided to produce anonymised statistics.  There would be 
no direct impact at all on individual members of the public from the use of this data.  Record 
level data would be used for data linkage, but this would be done by algorithms so personal 
data would not be seen by ONS researchers and statisticians, further minimising any risk to 
individuals. 
 
Council Tax data would help support ONS to produce regular government statistical 
releases to inform policy-making decisions, provide mid-year population estimates, help to 
monitor the economy and was a primary measure of inflation.  The data was also used by 
businesses, universities, the media and the public to monitor the Government's 
performance and gain a better understanding of the UK economy.  At local authority level it 
helped the Council understand housing need, future housing growth and many more vital 
indicators involved in the whole decision making process and in steering future policy. 
 
The reasons ONS required Council Tax data was because Personal Identifiable Information 
was required to enable ONS to link to other administrative data sources, which would allow 
the ONS to produce statistics beyond what was possible using Council Tax data in 
isolation.  Names, for example, were one of the most important linkage variables that were 
used to ensure that agencies could have a high degree of confidence in the match, 
something that could not be achieved without using people’s names. 
  
By linking datasets rather than treating them individually analysts could draw insights from 
across the data, which helped ONS find new patterns that otherwise might not be seen.  
The matching and linking was carried out by algorithms which meant that the names were 
not actually seen by ONS statisticians or researchers using the data, who received an 
aggregate or anonymised output. 

Page 68



 
 
 

 

 
7 

 
The Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) stated that Data Sharing Agreements were 
not intended to be legally enforceable – ‘drafting and adhering to an agreement does not in 
itself provide you with any form of legal indemnity from action under the data protection 
legislation or other law.’  It was, however, something that the ICO would take into account 
should either party make a complaint. 
 
Data Sharing Agreements were created to provide clarification and understanding to what 
data was being shared, for what purpose and whether there was a lawful basis for doing so.  
It addressed legal concerns, but it did not enforce them.  
 
The DSA was simply a memorandum of understanding with agreed steps for both parties to 
take.  Once the Council data was passed to ONS they were responsible for the data.  If 
there was ever a data breach or ONS broke GDPR guidelines, then the ICO would hold 
ONS to account.  Accordingly, there was a legal enforcement route, albeit not between 
ONS and Hyndburn Borough Council directly.  From the information supplied by the ONS, 
the ONS appeared to have appropriate data security measures in place. 
 
The DSA was not specific to the Census and ONS would continue to collect data after the 
Census had been completed. 
  
To date Council Tax data was already being submitted to the ONS on this basis and for 
these purposes by 313 councils. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection/ 
 
If the Council did not agree to share the data there was a possibility of implications on the 
Local Authority being served with a Notice. 
 
Under s45C Statistics and Registration Service Act 2007 (SRSA), the UK Statistics 
Authority had the power to issue a Notice on public authorities, in this instance Local 
Authorities (LAs), requiring them by law to share the information ONS were requesting in 
order to exercise our statistical functions.  This differed from the current request for 
information under s45A SRSA, which allowed the LA to exercise their own discretion as to 
whether or not to share the information.  
 
At present, non-mandatory data requested allowed for a degree of negotiation on the terms 
of data sharing and came with the added benefit of flexibility around submission dates.  
However, voluntary agreement was also suggested to avoid the risk of criminal liability for 
the Council and its staff which might arise if provision of the data was mandated. 
 
Failure to comply with a Notice once it had been served constituted a criminal offence.  
Such an offence would have been committed not only by the local authority, but also by any 
officer of that local authority with responsibility for the breach (see sections 45F(4) and 
45F(5)).  Such an offence might or might not be prosecuted by the Crown Prosecution 
Service depending on the circumstances. 
 
Resolved - That the Council enter into a Data Sharing 

Agreement with the Office for National Statistics 
(ONS) to share Council Tax data as outlined in the 
report provided, for the purpose of: 

 
(a) assisting the ONS to deliver an accurate 

Census 2021 for Hyndburn; and 

 

Page 69



 
 
 

 

 
8 

(b) setting a framework for the ongoing monthly 

supply of Council Tax data to the ONS to 

improve the quality and accuracy of ONS 

general statistical data and the locally stratified 

data relating to the Borough and its 

population. 

 
24 Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 

 
A report was presented requesting that the Cabinet to give consideration to and comment 
on the draft work programmes for Overview and Scrutiny for 2021/22.  Councillor Paddy 
Short, Chair of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee, outlined the proposals 
and explained the consultation process used to identify topics for inclusion in work 
programme. 
 
Approval of the Report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
At the beginning of each municipal year, the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
each agreed a work programme for the year. 
 
The process for agreeing the work programme was set out in Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rule C6(a) as follows: 
 
“A draft work programme will be submitted for comment to the first appropriate meeting of 
the Cabinet at the beginning of each new Municipal Year and the draft work programme for 
each overview and scrutiny committee will then be submitted to the next following meeting 
of that committee (together with any comments or recommendations from the Cabinet) for 
approval”. 
 
A draft work programme for each of the Committees was submitted for comment.  This 
would be sent in draft to Cabinet, then to both Scrutiny Committees along with any 
comments from Cabinet.  The Scrutiny Committees would then approve a full programme. 
 
The work programmes had been developed following consultation including: 
 

 Multiple emails to all Councillors; 

 Suggestions sought from all service managers; 

 Press release/social media coverage for public suggestions; and 

 Informal meeting with the Cabinet. 

 
Twelve items had been suggested by Councillors and Service Managers.  A further item 
had been suggested by an external organisation working on a local project.  No items had 
been submitted directly by the public. 
 
A full list of items submitted by Councillors and reasons why they hadbeen included / not 
included was provided in the main report.  However, a summary is shown below: 

 
Subject Status Committee 

Council AEDs Accepted Communities 

Progress on the Council’s 
green agenda/climate pledge 

Accepted Resources 

Page 70



 
 
 

 

 
9 

Impact of the pandemic Accepted – could be done in 2 
stages. 

Communities 
(potential for 
Resources to 
consider impact on 
the Council)  

Review of progress on the 
Huncoat Strategic Housing 
site 

Rejected – now progressing with 
local plan 

Resources 

Performance of Council 
owned properties leased to 
community and charitable 
organisations 

Rejected – staff resources not 
available to carry out review to 
this extent. Possibility to consider 
a lighter touch review more 
focussed on those organisations 
working in the buildings 

Resources 

Hyndburn Leisure Accepted Resources 

Performance Review Accepted Resources 

Healthy Weight Declaration Accepted Communities 

Air Pollution Rejected – reviewed in recent 
past 

Communities 

PREVENT Accepted Communities 

Mental Health Accepted Communities 

Childhood Obesity Accepted Communities 

 
The following were standing items and would appear on the work programme: 
 

 Crime and Disorder (Community Safety); and 

 Budget Scrutiny. 

 
The following additional items had been agreed at the informal meeting of Scrutiny 
Chairs and Cabinet: 
 

 Invite PCC Andrew Snowden to report on local policing; 

 Review of Council’s Reserves (including free and earmarked reserves and 

any current risks); 

 Suicide Prevention; 

 Domestic Violence; 

 Parliamentary Boundary Review; and 

 Recycling. 

 
The Chair of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee had also requested 
the following item be added: 
 

 Review of Business Rates Collections. 

 
Items had been provisionally allocated to specific meetings.  However, these might 
be subject to change during the year, particularly where they involved the 
attendance of external and partner organisations, when attendance at meetings 
may be more difficult as organisations recovered from the pandemic. 
 

Page 71



 
 
 

 

 
10 

As in previous years, additional items could be added to the work programmes as 
the year progressed, in accordance with the Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes the work programmes for the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees contained in 
Appendix 1 to the report. 

 
25 Scrutiny Panel Report - Council Automated External Defibrillators (AEDs) 

 
A report was presented from the Communities and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel established to 
consider the matter of Automated External Defibrillators (AEDs).  Councillor June Harrison, 
a member of that Panel, introduced the report.  The Communities and Wellbeing Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee had considered this matter on 25th November 2020 and had 
determined to establish a Scrutiny Panel to consider a number of issues about AEDs.  
Public AEDs were an important life-saving tool and the Council had invested in their 
provision.  However, a number of AEDs sited on buildings not owned by the Council were 
now offline.  The recommendations of the Panel were set out in section 5 of the Panel’s 
report and reproduced in the covering report to the Cabinet. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for decision 
 
At its meeting on 25th November 2020, the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee had resolved to establish a Scrutiny Panel to look at current issues 
associated with AEDs in Hyndburn.  The Scrutiny Panel would be called “The Hyndburn 
AED Review.” 
 
It had been determined at that meeting that there were several issues causing problems 
with AEDs in Hyndburn, and the Panel wished to make recommendations to resolve those 
issues urgently.  The Committee had received detailed reports regarding AEDs in 
Hyndburn, but felt the need to carry out a more detailed review, with a particular focus on 
resolving the issues identified in the report. 
 
An Automated External Defibrillator (AED) was commonly referred to as a defibrillator or 
‘defib’.  It was a device that gave an electric shock to the heart through the chest wall to 
someone in cardiac arrest.  Without defibrillation a person in cardiac arrest would die.  
There were defibrillators in many public places such as shopping centres, airports, train 
stations, schools and businesses which anyone could use - even those without awareness 
training - in the event of a cardiac arrest. 
 
In the UK, around 60,000 people had an out-of-hospital cardiac arrest every year and less 
than one in 10 people survived.  One of the main reasons for this was the lack of action 
from bystanders before ambulance crews arrived.  Defibrillation within five minutes could 
result in survival rates as high as 70%.  For this to be happen, it was essential that 
bystanders took action by using defibrillators in the community.  For that to happen, 
defibrillators needed to be made as readily available as fire extinguishers.  For each minute 
without defibrillation, a person’s survival chances decreased by 10%. 
 
In 2016, Huncoat and Central/Springhill Area Councils had authorised capital expenditure 
on 9 Defibrillators which had been installed at publically accessible sites across these 
areas.  These had been installed on a mixture of Council, private and third sector buildings 

Page 72



 
 
 

 

 
11 

in strategic places in line with guidance from North West Ambulance Service (NWAS).  As 
part of the installation process, the Council, with support from NWAS, had produced an 
agreement which laid out the responsibilities of each party (Council, NWAS and building 
owner) with regards to the ongoing maintenance of each AED.  Building owners had agreed 
to supply electricity to the cabinet and to carry out regular visual inspections to ensure the 
AED was functional, and report any issues to NWAS. 
 
Since then, additional AEDs had been installed, including directly on Council buildings, via 
further Area Council expenditure and through Area Council grants.  There were currently 19 
AEDs with which the Council had had some involvement.  There were numerous other 
AEDs across Hyndburn owned by other organisations, charities and private businesses 
across the Borough. 
 
There was currently no single Council department with responsibility for the authority’s 
AEDs.  At the time of writing, 8 of the AEDs were currently offline on the NWAS system, 
meaning they were not available for public use.  There were no issues with AEDs on 
Council buildings, the problems mainly lying with those AEDs purchased by the Council and 
located on non-Council buildings or with those AEDs purchased by third parties using an 
Area Council Grant. 
 
A budget requirement of £12,000 was required annually in order for the Council to maintain 
the AEDs and for the officer time to carry out the required weekly checks.  The budget 
requirement was viewed as a maximum and could be reduced significantly in subsequent 
years by implementing measures discussed in the appendix, such as seeking agreement 
from the current building owners/occupiers to carry out checks and basic maintenance or 
relocating AEDs to Council buildings where weekly visual checks could be carried out more 
efficiently by Council staff. 
 
The AED Scrutiny Panel had investigated the issues and produced a comprehensive report 
on its findings. 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE commented that the Cabinet would be happy to accept the 
recommendations, but that Recommendation 2.7, concerning getting AEDs back online 
quickly, might take a little while longer to implement than anticipated, but that every effort 
would be made to do this as soon as possible. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
Remain as is – This was not recommended as the current system was not working,  8 
AEDs were currently offline and, therefore, not available should someone go into cardiac 
arrest in the vicinity of one of those devices.  During the course of the review the Facilities 
Team had worked to ensure all the AEDs on Council buildings were back online, but the 
problem still persisted with those not on Council buildings. 
 
Decommission the AEDs – This was not recommended as although it was recognised that 
the provision of public AEDs was not a statutory duty of the Council, they were important 
items of emergency equipment which had been proven to save lives in the community.  
Decommissioning should only be considered for those AEDs which were returned to the 
Council and where no suitable place for relocation could be found, or where the AED unit 
was no longer viable. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet: 
 

(1) Delegates responsibility to the Chief Executive to 
make suitable arrangements for the ongoing 

Page 73



 
 
 

 

 
12 

management of Council AEDs having regard to the 
recommendations in the Scrutiny report provided. 

 
(2) Agrees that the required budget of up to £12,000 

annually be found from the remaining underspends 
budget for 2021/22 to be followed by a growth bid for 
budget provision for subsequent years. 

 
(3) Agrees that, having public AEDs which are not 

available for use is worse than having no AED at all.  
Therefore, officers in consultation with the North 
West Ambulance Service (NWAS) should write to the 
building owners/occupiers and seek agreement that 
they will carry out weekly checks, reporting to 
NWAS, and maintenance, or return the AED to the 
Council. 

 
(4) Agrees that, should any AEDs be returned, officers 

in consultation with NWAS consider whether it 
would be appropriate to relocate any of the AEDs or 
decommission them, having regard to the 
recommendations in the Scrutiny report provided. 

 
(5) Agrees that Officers give consideration to what 

action should be taken at the end of each AED unit’s 
shelf life. 

 
(6) Agrees that weekly checks, reporting and 

maintenance of the AED be included in any new 
lease agreement for the Arthur Wilson Centre. 

 
(7) Agrees that the above recommendations should be 

carried out as soon as practicable in order to get the 
AEDs back online quickly. 

 
(8) Agrees that officers liaise with NWAS to ensure they 

are fully aware of any changes to arrangements for 
AEDs. 

 
(9) Agrees that officers be asked to report back to the 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in approximately 6 months time to 
provide an update. 

 
26 Financial Position February 2021 - Report for the Year Ending 31st March 2021 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report informing 
Cabinet of the financial spending of the Council up to the end of February 2021 and the 
financial forecast outturn position for the Accounting Year 2020/21. 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted key elements of the report, as follows: 
 

 The adverse variance forecast for February 2021 had been reduced to £188,000, 

which was an improvement on the forecast as at January 2021; 

Page 74



 
 
 

 

 
13 

 This was a welcome direction of travel and reflected both the amount of 

Government grants received and widespread efforts of staff to contain expenditure; 

 Any overspend was unwelcome, but the gap was continuing to narrow.  There was a 

possibility that the authority would break even, or even have a positive variance at 

year end; 

 The Council had handled more monies than ever before, which raised the possibility 

of any variance being significant.  However, Hyndburn’s variance was in fact very 

small compared to the overall turnover. 

 
Councillor Peter Britcliffe expressed disappointment that the report had not been available 
sooner, as this had given little time to analyse the information.  The Leader of the Council 
responded that officers were currently stretched, but that the positive message in the report 
reflected the hard work of all staff. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The spend for the first 11 months of the financial year to the end of February 2021 was 
£9,469,000 compared to a Budget of £11,204,000, giving a positive variance of £1,735,000 
over the first 11 months of the year. 
 
The current forecast spend to the end of the financial year in March 2021 was £11,415,000 
compared to a Budget of £11,227,000.  This forecast produced an adverse variance of 
£188,000 by the end of the financial year.  The adverse variance across the Council was 
attributable to the impact of COVID 19 on the Council’s overall financial position, requiring it 
to spend additional sums to address the impact of the pandemic while at the same time 
suffering a reduction in its income, due to the downturn in economic activity stemming from 
the pandemic. 
 
The predicted level of variance against the Budget could be managed within the Council’s 
overall reserves. 
 
The financial detail was set out in a table at the end of the report.  The report also included 
a more detailed commentary about expenditure in the following service areas: 
 

 Environmental Services; 

 Culture and Leisure Services; 

 Planning and Transportation ; 

 Regeneration and Property Services; 

 Policy and Corporate Governance; and 

 Non Service Items. 

 
The figures for service areas included estimated losses in income due to the pandemic, 
less additional specific Government funding to help offset some of the losses incurred.  
Overall, the authority had estimated a loss in income across the Council of £1,033,000 and 
had assumed that the Government would provide a grant of £588,000 to offset those 
losses.  The estimate was based around the Government guidance issued in this area.  
This process was subject to further review and a year-end reconciliation under the 
Government’s rules around this grant, so the figures were subject to confirmation and 
revision.  This would only take place after the financial year-end.  As such the figures could 
move upwards or downwards as a consequence, potentially by significant amounts as the 
scheme was new and untested. 

Page 75



 
 
 

 

 
14 

 
The estimates around expenditure necessary to fight COVID 19 were subject to more 
uncertainty than in the normal forecasting of expenditure, given the unprecedented 
demands and changing nature in this area and, therefore, these forecasts were subject to 
larger variance than usual within a local authority Budget. 
 
The authority expected a substantial increase in the non-payment of Council Tax and 
Business Rates, as well as a large rise in the numbers of Council Tax Support Claimants 
due to the pandemic.  Due to the statutory requirements around accounting for these 
transactions, the losses in these areas this year would not manifest themselves until future 
year budgets and would be dealt with by adjustments to the Council’s revenue levels in 
later years. 
 
The Government had potentially indicated that it would ensure all Tier 3 Councils were able 
to balance their 2020/21 and 2021/22 Budgets and, therefore, funding might be available to 
reduce the adverse variance to zero by the end of the year.  However, at this stage no 
details had been provided around this potential extra financial support that might be 
available and, therefore, this funding was not included within this Budget forecast. 
 
The level of adverse variance currently predicted would need to be funded from existing 
reserves if the extra funding did not materialise.  The existing level of Council Reserves 
would be able to absorb such an adverse variance without a major impact on the Council’s 
overall financial position. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes the report on the financial 

position as at February 2021 and asks Corporate 
Management Team to continue to reduce costs and 
increase income over the remaining weeks of the 
financial year. 

 
 

27 Exclusion of the Public 
 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 

Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
28 Urgent Decisions Taken 

 
Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decisions taken under the urgency procedure: 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio Date of 

Page 76



 
 
 

 

 
15 

Holder Approval 

(a) Loan to Hyndburn Leisure Ltd Cllr Munsif 
Dad BEM JP 

5th May 2021 

 
Councillor Marlene Haworth enquired if an assessment had been made of the viability of 
Hyndburn Leisure Ltd being able to repay the loan while continuing to fund their day to day 
operating expenses, particularly if business recovery from the pandemic was slow.  She 
expressed concern and there might be a need to renegotiate the arrangement within the 
next 5 years.  She also enquired if the matter had been considered by overview and 
scrutiny. 
 
The Leader of the Council responded that a long term loan would help the organisation to 
recover from the effects of pandemic.  Hyndburn Leisure was a valuable local asset and 
over the last 20 years had enable the Council to save money on its leisure offer.  Grant 
funding to Hyndburn Leisure had reduced significantly over that time, whereas other 
Lancashire authorities continued to provide subsidies to their leisure organisations.  In the 
same way that other businesses had suffered during the pandemic, so too had the 
restrictions had a significant impact on Hyndburn Leisure.  It would not be in the interests of 
the Council to see Hyndburn Leisure fail.  However, in the worst case scenario the assets 
would simply return to the Council.  Prior to the pandemic Hyndburn Leisure was at the 
point of ‘standing on its own two feet’ financially. 
 
Joe McIntyre, Deputy Chief Executive, reported that Hyndburn Leisure had produced a 
business plan for the proposals, which showed that it was financially viable and that the 
repayments could be afforded.  The plan had been approved by the company’s external 
auditors and the Deputy Chief Executive, as Responsible Finance Officer for the Council, 
was satisfied with the plan.  The plan recognised the volatility of the market due to the 
pandemic, but provided for contingencies.  The Trust had been on a journey to reduce their 
level of subsidy and, but for the pandemic, would have much further on course.  The 
Council could have written off the loan or provided a loan interest free, but had instead 
decided to provide a loan at a reasonable rate of interest. 
 
The Leader of the Council referred to the need to tackle obesity in the Borough and the 
proposed investment in Hyndburn Sports Centre and the repurposing of Mercer Hall.  The 
local leisure offer included working with a range of partners, such as Accrington Stanley 
Community Trust at Highams Playing Fields and local schools, to provide excellent facilities 
and to bring in grants from elsewhere.  Schemes such as the Decarbonisation Programme 
had secured major investment and would dovetail with other projects, such as the Levelling 
up agenda. 
 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decisions taken. 
 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 

 
Thursday, 15th October, 2020 

 
Present:  Councillor Jeff Scales (in the Chair), Councillors Andrew Clegg (Vice 

Chair), Kath Pratt and Kate Walsh 
 

Co-opted (non-
voting) Members 
 

Councillor Rennie Pinder (Altham Parish Council) 

Independent 
Persons (non-
voting) 

Rahila Hussain and Frank Whitehead 

  

 
7 Apologies for absence, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Laurence Loft (Independent Person). 
 
Councillors Jeff Scales and Kath Pratt both declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 3 – 
Dispensations, on the grounds that they had each submitted an application for the granting 
of certain dispensations to be considered at this meeting.  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

8 Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the last meeting of the Standards Committee held on 6th February 2020 
were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
In relation to Minutes 239 - Standards Committee Complaints Process: Training, Rahila 
Hussain reported that her job title had now changed to Special Educational Needs Adviser, 
for Lancashire County Council. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 
Councillors Jeff Scales and Katt Pratt did not speak or vote on the following item of 
business. 
 

9 Grant of Dispensations 
 
Members considered a report of the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) on 
the grant of dispensations. 
 
Members were informed that, in June 2012, Hyndburn Borough Council and Altham Parish 
Council had each adopted a new Code of Conduct following the introduction of the new 
standards regime under the Localism Act 2011.  Unlike the previous codes, the new Codes 
did not expressly enable Councillors to speak and vote on a number of specific issues 
where a large number would have an interest, e.g. setting the Council Tax.  Therefore, 
Standards Committee would need to consider granting dispensations on those issues 

Page 79

Agenda Item 10.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

where legislation did not specifically allow Hyndburn and Altham Parish Councillors to 
speak and vote. 
 
Hyndburn Councillors Judith Addison, Mohammed Ayub, Noordad Aziz, Jean Battle, 
Stephen Button, Paul Cox, Munsif Dad, Stewart Eaves, Glen Harrison, June Harrison, Terry 
Hurn, Abdul Khan, Tim O’Kane, Miles Parkinson, Katt Pratt, Jeff Scales and Paddy Short 
had submitted individual requests to renew their dispensations.  The requests related to 
dispensations to speak and vote on the following matters:- 
 

 An allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members; 

 Ceremonial honours given to Members; 

 Setting Council Tax or a precept under the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 

as amended from time to time or any superseding legislation; 

 Setting a local Council Tax reduction scheme for the purposes of the Local 

Government Finance Act 2012 as amended from time to time or any superseding 

legislation; and 

 Setting a local scheme for the payment of business rates, including eligibility for 

rebates and reductions, for the purposes of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 

as amended from time to time and any superseding legislation 

 
Dispensations in the above terms had previously been granted to the other 16 Hyndburn 
Borough Councillors and were not due to expire until either 2022 or 2023. 
 
Similarly, legislation was silent on the issue of Parish Councillors being able to speak and 
vote on the setting of a parish precept, even though most, if not all of them, could have an 
interest in the decision as local residents.  Altham Parish Councillor John Halstead had 
submitted a request to renew his dispensation to speak and vote in respect of the setting of 
a precept under the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 (as amended from time to 
time) or any superseding legislation.  Dispensations to this effect had previously been 
granted to the five remaining Altham Parish Councillors and were not due to expire until 
either 2022 or 2023.  There was currently one vacancy on the Parish Council. 
 
The Government had taken the view that a dispensation was unnecessary in certain 
circumstances and that councillors did not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in 
decisions relating to the setting of Council Tax levels.  The matter had not been decided by 
a court however and there was scope to argue that Hyndburn Borough Council and Altham 
Parish Councillors did potentially have a disclosable pecuniary interest when making 
decisions of this type, as they resided in the Borough / Parish and would be required to pay 
any new level of Council Tax or precept.  However, legal grounds existed to grant the 
requested dispensations pursuant to the Localism Act 2011. 
 
Standards Committee was invited to decide whether to grant dispensations to allow each 
Councillor to speak and vote on the relevant issues. 
 
A dispensation had to specify the period for which it had effect and the period specified 
could not exceed four years.  The existing dispensations were due to expire on 29th 
November 2020.  If the Committee were minded to grant approval to the latest dispensation 
requests, it was proposed that the approval should cover the period 30th November 2020 to 
29th November 2024. 
 
Committee could grant a dispensation to speak only, or could grant a dispensation to speak 
and vote.  A dispensation could be granted if Committee was satisfied on any of the 
following grounds:  
 

Page 80



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 The number of members prevented from speaking or voting would be so great as to 

“impede the transaction of business”;  or 

 The political balance at the relevant meeting would otherwise be sufficiently affected 

as to alter the likely outcome of the vote;  or 

 The dispensation was in the interests of people living in the area; or 

 All the members of the Cabinet were affected by the interest; or it was otherwise 

appropriate to grant the dispensation. 

 
Resolved (1) That the requests from Hyndburn Borough 

Councillors Judith Addison, Mohammed Ayub, 
Noordad Aziz, Jean Battle, Stephen Button, Paul 
Cox, Munsif Dad, Stewart Eaves, Glen Harrison, 
June Harrison, Terry Hurn, Abdul Khan, Tim O’Kane, 
Miles Parkinson, Katt Pratt, Jeff Scales and Paddy 
Short, to grant dispensations to speak and vote on 
the issues set out in Section 3.2 of the report, be 
approved, to have effect for the period 30th 
November 2020 to 29th November 2024. 

 
(2) That the request from Altham Parish Councillor 

John Halstead, to grant dispensations to speak and 
vote on the issues set out in Section 3.4 of the 
report, be approved, to have effect for the period 30th 
November 2020 to 29th November 2024. 

 
10 Annual Ombudsman's Letter 2020 

 
The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services) regarding the annual Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s 
(LGSCO’s) letter for 2020.  The Chair provided a brief introduction to main points contained 
within the report. 
 
The LGSCO had now published its annual complaint figures in respect of each local 
authority for the period 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020.  The data was produced in respect 
of every local authority in the same format. 
 
For many years the LGSCO had received a low level of complaints about Hyndburn, which 
made it difficult to identify trends from the statistical information provided.  The low level of 
complaints might however reflect good service delivery and / or a good internal complaint 
handling process. 
 
This year the LGSCO had changed the reporting format and less detail had been provided.  
So, this year there was no information to identify the service areas to which the complaints 
related. 
 
During this period the LGSCO had carried out 1 detailed investigation in response to a 
complaint about the Council, but this was not upheld. 
 
Most importantly, the Ombudsman’s letter did not flag up any areas of concern about either 
the Council’s services or its procedures for dealing with complaints. 
 
The table below showed a comparison between the Council’s position and that of 
neighbouring District Councils over the same period.  This exercise also did not indicate 

Page 81



 
 
 

 

 
4 

any obvious cause for concern in respect of the Council, with Hyndburn’s performance 
being better than, or comparable to, its Lancashire neighbours: 
 

Council Complaints 
investigated by 
LGO 

% of complaints upheld after detailed 
investigation (the average for similar 
council is 45%) 

Hyndburn 1 0% 

Burnley 0 0% 

Pendle 1 0% 

Rossendale 6 33% (i.e 2 upheld) 

Ribble Valley 0 0% 

Chorley 1 100% (i.e 1 upheld) 

South Ribble 1 0% 

Preston 8 13% (i.e 1 upheld) 

West Lancs 1 0% 

Lancaster 2 0% 

Wyre 3 33% (i.e 1upheld) 

Fylde 3 33% (i.e. 1 upheld) 

 
Resolved - That Committee welcomes the Ombudsman’s letter 

and notes this report. 
 

11 Standards Update 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic 

Services) about recent developments relating to local authority governance and the 

Councillor Code of Conduct.  The Chair reported on his experience of the application of the 

current Code of Conduct, based on his experience as Labour Whip last year.  The Code 

applied to all councillors equally and its use was not based on party political considerations.  

The investigation of complaints would be supported by the Executive Director (Legal and 

Democratic Services).  The Committee was being asked to await the publication of the 

Local Government Association’s (LGA’s) new Code, then to decide whether to adopt that 

Code or to adapt the Council’s existing Code. 

 

The report indicated that, in 2019, the Committee on Standards in Public Life had published 
a report entitled “Local Government Ethical Standards”, which had made a range of 
recommendations in respect of Councillor Codes of Conduct and the investigation of 
complaints about councillors.  A summary of those recommendations was provided, 
alongside a summary of the Council’s performance against each one of them. 
 
Work on implementation of the various recommendations had been halted at the start of the 
Covid pandemic, when all efforts had focussed on the Council’s response to the same.  
 
In June 2020, the LGA had begun a consultation on a proposed model Code of Conduct for 
Members, a copy of which was provided with the report.  There was now no national 
Councillor Code of Conduct and each Council was able to adopt its own, leading to varying 
standards and expectations across the country.  The draft model Code was an attempt to 
set out a minimum set of obligations for councillors to promote public confidence in local 
governance arrangements.  The draft Code was in reasonably plain English and much of its 
contents were to be welcomed (although it did limit councillors power to speak where they 
had personal, non-pecuniary interests to a greater extent than the Council’s current code 
and the Council’s Monitoring Officer considered that the draft Code went too far in that 
regard).  The Council was now waiting for the outcome of the consultation process and it 

Page 82



 
 
 

 

 
5 

was very likely that an updated version of the draft Code would be produced.  This would 
be brought to Standards Committee for Members to consider.  
 
The model Code and associated guidance were likely to address many of the 
recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life.  Rather than 
engage in a piecemeal review, it was suggested that the Council should review its Code of 
Conduct and Member complaints process once the final version of the LGA’s model Code 
of Conduct had been published as part of a single, comprehensive piece of work.  No 
complaints about Member conduct had been referred to Standards Committee for several 
years, and poor Member conduct did not appear to be a significant problem for the Council.  
A short delay in updating the Council’s rules and procedures did not, therefore, appear to 
pose particular risks.  
 
Members discussed the proposed approach to be taken and in general were in favour of 

awaiting publication of the final version of the Code.  However, concerns were expressed 

about the greater restrictions on councillor rights to speak when they had a personal 

interest.  The Council might not wish to adopt that element of the Code.  The Executive 

Director (Legal and Democratic Services) clarified that the LGA’s proposed changes would 

not limit a local councillor speaking on planning issues within their ward, unless he/she had 

pecuniary interest. 

 

Resolved (1) That the Committee notes this report. 

 

(2) That the Committee agrees to delay updates to the 

Council’s Councillor Code of Conduct until April 

2021 to allow time for the LGA’s new model Code of 

Conduct to be finalised 

 

(3) That the Committee agrees that it will conduct an 

annual review of the Council’s Code of Conduct for 

councillors. 

 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
JUDICIAL COMMITTEE (PRIVATE HIRE AND HACKNEY 

CARRIAGE LICENSING) 
 

 
Wednesday, 13th January, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Melissa Fisher (in the Chair), Councillors Diane Fielding (Vice 

Chair), Joyce Plummer, Stewart Eaves, Terry Hurn and Marlene Haworth 
 

Apologies Sara Britcliffe MP 

  

 
100 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor Sara Britcliffe.  Councillor 
Marlene Haworth acted as substitute representative on her behalf.   
 
There were no declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

101 Minutes of Last Meeting held on 25th November 2020 
 
The Minutes of the Judicial Committee (Private Hire & Hackney Carriage) held on the 25th 
November 2020 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

102 Licensing Procedure for Meetings of the Committee 
 
The General Licensing procedure to be followed at the meeting in relation to hackney 
carriage and private hire drivers’ and operators’ licences was submitted.  A copy had been 
sent to the licence holder. 
 
Resolved - That the Procedure be noted. 
 

103 Licensing Guidelines 
 
The Institute of Licensing’s Guidelines for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trades was 
submitted, which was used to assist Hyndburn Borough Council when determining the 
suitability of applicants and licensees in the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trades.  A 
copy of the Guidance had been sent to the licence holder. 
 
Resolved - That the Guidance be noted. 
 

104 Exclusion of the Public 
 
That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local Government Act 1972, the public was 
excluded from the meeting during the following item, when it was likely, in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted, or the nature of the proceedings, that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt information within the Paragraphs at 
Schedule 12A of the Act specified at the item. 
 

Page 85



 
 
 

 

 
2 

105 Report of Urgent Council Decision - Rescinding of a Decision of Judicial Committee 
held on 25th November 2020 
 
(Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 1 – 
Information relating to any Individual) 
 
The Licensing Manager reported on the use of the Council’s Urgency Procedure to rescind 
the revocation of a hackney carriage and private hire joint driver’s licence for the reasons 
set out in the report. 
 
Resolved - That the use of the Council’s Urgency Procedure be 

noted. 
 

106 Consideration of an Existing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Joint Driver's 
Licence (SK) 
 
(Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 1 – 
Information relating to any individual) 
 
In accordance with licensing procedure the driver (SK) and his representative had been 
invited to attend the meeting but had contacted the Council to inform the Committee that 
they would not be present.  Members, therefore, gave consideration to deferring the 
meeting to a future date or holding the hearing in the driver’s absence. 
 
Resolved - That Members of the Judicial Committee agreed to hear 

the case, in respect of item 7, in the absence of the 
driver. 

 
The Licensing Manager, on behalf of the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services), submitted a report informing the Committee of relevant issues relating to a 
licensed private hire and hackney carriage driver (SK).  Members were asked to consider 
matters contained in the report and any representations made by the applicant and his 
representative.  Members also heard from a complainant who gave evidence to the 
Committee of the driver’s conduct while he was a passenger of the driver.  The complaint 
and following documents were relevant to the case and were included for consideration 
along with details of the driver’s driving convictions and his failure to notify the Council of 
these convictions:- 
 
A complaint from a customer received on 13th August 2020. 
 
Appendix 1 – email chain requesting a representation 
Appendix 2 – email representation received. 
Appendix 3 – Warning letter 
Appendix 4 – Previous committee report and decision 
Appendix 5 – Warning letter  
 
The Committee was requested to consider the issues outline above and:- 
 

(a)  Determine whether the complaint was established; 
(b) Having made a finding of the facts, decide whether those facts revealed fi the driver 

had acted in any way which would bring into doubt whether he was safe and 
suitable to hold a driver’s licence with the Council; and 

(c) Determine what action, if any, should be taken against the driver. 
 
Decision of the Committee:- 

Page 86



 
 
 

 

 
3 

Resolved - That, the Committee considered the offence of using a 
mobile phone whilst driving to be a serious matter and 
taking into account the Councils convictions policy, and 
representations made, they could not see any 
compelling reason to deviate from the Councils own 
policy.  The Committee also accepted the evidence 
provided by the complainant and considered that the 
behaviour of the driver (SK) had been consistently 
below the standard expected of a licensed hackney 
carriage and private hire driver and that he had 
consistently failed to improve and was therefore 
considered not a safe and suitable person to hold a 
hackney carriage and private hire driver’s licence.  They 
determined that the driver’s licence be revoked with 
immediate effect pursuant, respectively, to Section 61 
and Section 61(2B) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, for the reasons 
outlined in the meeting and set out in the decision 
notice.   

 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
143 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Wednesday, 24th February, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Dave Parkins (in the Chair), Councillors Judith Addison, 

Jean Battle MBE, Stephen Button, Stewart Eaves, Abdul Khan, 
Paddy Short, Kate Walsh, Terry Hurn, June Harrison, Melissa Fisher, 
Kath Pratt and Loraine Cox (Vice Chair) 
 

Apologies: Councillors Eamonn Higgins 

  

 
142 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
An apology for absence was submitted from Councillor Eamonn Higgins.  
Councillor Dave Parkins Chaired the Meeting. 
Councillor Loraine Cox attended as a substitute for Councillor Higgins.  
 
 

143 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 
The minutes of the last Planning Committee held on the 20th January 2021 were submitted 
for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

144 Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination 
 

 The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report setting out 
recommended action on the following applications.  
 
Resolved – That the following planning application be approved as 
permission in principal and subject to the conditions recommended in the 
report. 
 
11/20/0470 – Baird Moore Stud Farm, Plantation Road, Accrington 
 
 
Resolved – That the following planning application be approved, subject to 
the conditions recommended in the report.  
 
11/20/0450 – Land to rear of Lower Hill House Farm, Highergate, Huncoat, BB5 
6LH  
 
NB.   1. Councillor Dave Parkins abstained from this vote.  
 
Resolved – That the following planning application be approved, subject to 
the conditions recommended in the report 
 
 

Page 89



 
 
 

 

 
144 

11/20/0456 – Mercer Hall, Queen Street, Great Harwood, BB6 7AL  
 
NB.  1. Councillor Kath Pratt commented on the remodelling of the outside 

being premature and to wait for the internal works to be completed. 
Councillor Pratt abstained from this vote.  

 
 2. The building is a local listed building.  
 
 

 
 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 
Date: …………….………………………………………… 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 
 

 

Page 90



 

 
1 

 
COMMUNITIES AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 

 
Wednesday, 17th March, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Glen Harrison (in the Chair),  

Councillors Bernadette Parkinson (Vice Chair), Judith Addison, 
June Harrison, Kath Pratt and Tim O'Kane 
 
 

In Attendance: Councillor Jenny Molineux (Hyndburn Borough Council),  
Kirsten Burnett (Head of Policy & Organisational Development), 
Inspector Steve Rides (Lancashire Constabulary) 
Lancashire Constabulary Police Analyst 

  

Apologies: Mr. Doug Hayes and Kate Walsh 
 

 
162 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Kate Walsh and Co-optee 
Doug Hayes. 
 
Councillor Tim O’Kane acted as substitute representative for Councillor Kate Walsh. 
 

163 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no interests or dispensations declared at the meeting. 
 

164 Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the last meeting of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 25th November 2020 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
  
Resolved        -  That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

165 Community Safety and Police and Crime Update 
 
Councillor Jenny Molineux, Portfolio Holder for Health and Communities, reported on the 
work of the Community Safety Partnership.  She reported on measures implemented by the 
Community Safety Partnership to tackle crime and reduce re-offending.  She referred to the 
importance of the Police, Council and relevant partners working together and pointed out 
that the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) aimed to ensure that the right people were 
brought together to work effectively and that their focus was on environmental crime, violent 
crime, inquisitive crime and youth related crime.  She expressed gratitude for the Police’s 
attendance today and indicated that the questions submitted in advance to the meeting by 
the Committee would be responded to in detail.  She placed on record, her thanks to all 
those who had contributed to the CSP and also noted the valuable contribution that the late 
Councillor Tony Dobson had made during his time as Chair.   
 

Page 91



 
 
 

 

 
2 

The Chair read out the Committee’s advanced questions, submitted prior to the meeting, 
and responses were provided as below: 
 
How does the CSP choose its priorities? 
 
Kirsten Burnett, Head of Policy and Organisational Development, reported that priorities 
were chosen through a variety of ways including local surveys, Lancashire Talking, 
feedback from Councillors, contributions from the members of the Community Safety 
Partnership and from the Police themselves.  She provided examples of the different types 
of crimes they focussed upon.   
 
Referring to the number of Police Officers and PSCOs in Hyndburn –  
 

a) How does the number of Officers now compare with previous years? 
Inspector Steve Rides (Hyndburn Police Inspector) and the Lancashire 
Constabulary Analyst referred to changes in policing as a result of the 
modernisation programme introduced a few years ago.  Inspector Rides pointed out 
that Officer numbers were consistent and there were no plans to change this at the 
moment. 
  

b) Are there any vacancies to be filled in Hyndburn? 
Inspector Rides reported that there were PCSO vacancies and there was an 
ongoing recruitment campaign. 

 
c) How will the national drive to recruit more Officers be reflected locally? 

Inspector Rides reported that this was a question more relevant for the PCC Office 
and Chief Constable and would circulate a response after the meeting. 

 
d) Will this recruitment drive lead to any restructuring of neighbourhood policing in 

Hyndburn? 
Issues on recruitment would be for the PCC Office and the Chief Constable to 
consider, however, there were no plans to change the number of Officers in 
Hyndburn in respect of the Neighbourhood Policing Team and the recruitment of 
any new Officers would be spread across different portfolios. 

 
3.  A reduction in crime numbers in most categories.   
 

a) Why do you think this is? 
The Police Analyst reported that there had been a reduction in crime due, in part, to 
the pandemic and that this was reflective both nationally and locally.  She reported 
that the reason for this was because there had been less opportunity for some crime 
types as people had remained in their homes (during lockdown).  There had been 
less vehicle crime (more vehicles had been left at home rather than parked on the 
street during working hours), less business and economic crime (less shop lifting 
because of shop closures etc.) and impact on violent crime (less night time 
economy).  Peaks and troughs in crime were regularly reported to the Police and 
Partners and were dealt with as appropriate.   
 

b) Could a reduction in crime be linked to the public being less likely to report crime? 
and c) What are the Police/CSP doing to encourage the public to report crime?  
Inspector Rides referred to the different ways in which crime could be reported 
including Lancashire Talking, online reporting and via Police visible on the streets.  
He indicated that there had been no obvious sign that people were more reluctant to 
report crime.   

 

Page 92



 
 
 

 

 
3 

4. Why had there been less crime data on certain areas in Hyndburn than in others?
  
The Police Analyst reported that the data supplied was an example of the data used 
to inform the CSP and provide interventions.  Areas of greatest crime risk and threat 
were prioritised.  All areas were included and if rises were seen in an area they 
would be looked at and prioritised accordingly.  Inspector Rides pointed out that 
crime levels were monitored and he would direct resources into areas of risk. 

 
5 Has Accrington Town Centre Crime reduced since the Police Station moved to 

Broadway?   
 Inspector Rides referred to the difficulties of quantifying if the Police Station moving 

to the Town Centre had had an effect on crime levels.  He pointed out, though, that 
it was likely that the increased visibility of the Police in the Town Centre had had an 
impact on crime, particularly on shop lifting and in assisting the effectiveness of 
Operation Broadway.  He also referred to a number of ways the Police could reduce 
crime in the Town Centre.   

 
6. There have been big increases in Anti-Social Behaviour 

 a) What are the Police doing to tackle ASB in the problem areas mentioned? 
  Inspector Rides reported that anti-social behaviour would feature in their ‘repeats’ 

list and would be added to a weekly patrol plan.  He reported that this was also an 
area that the Youth Panel would focus upon and initiate Outreach work.  He pointed 
out that the location of these buildings were an attraction for anti-social behaviour 
but they would put people in the right places to engage with youths.  He also 
referred to work with Lancashire Talking. 

 
b) What do the Police do to address anti-social behaviour issues in more obscure 

areas such as Jackhouse Nature Reserve? 
Inspector Rides referred to problems of anti-social behaviour around Jackhouse 
Nature Reserve last Summer and detailed enforcement action implemented to deal 
with these problems as well as work in educating youths in the dangers associated 
with these areas (such as water) and in the prevention of littering. 
 

7. What has the public response been to the In the Know system?  How are you 
promoting this to the public? 
Inspector Rides reported that ‘In the Know’ had been around for a number of years 
but Lancashire Talking was a bolt on to this.  This was the biggest change in how 
the Police engaged with people and the public response had been good.  It had 
been piloted in Hyndburn for 12 months and the information gained from this would 
be used to identify issues and locations.   
 

   
8. What, if anything is happening with PACT meeting?  Are there plans to revive these 

once lockdown restrictions are lifted? 
These meetings had been around for a long time and Lancashire Talking was a new 
ways of engaging with people and way of people talking to the Police about issues 
in their area.  He indicated that if enough people were interested in attending PACT 
meetings and they would be of a benefit to an area then he would support the 
reintroduction of them.   

 
Additional questions were submitted from the following Members of the Committee: 
 
Councillor Judith Addison – how did Police and Council responsibilities interact in respect of 
fly tipping.  She referred to a number of instances of fly tipping that had been posted on 
social media.  She wanted clarification of when offences were deemed civil or criminal.  In 

Page 93



 
 
 

 

 
4 

addition she referred to parking issues in back streets of terraced properties.  She pointed 
out that there were often issues of obstruction caused by vehicles which may be blocking 
access for vehicles such as bin wagons or emergency vehicles due to shortage of parking 
and again requested clarity on whether the Police or the Council were responsible for 
enforcement.  Inspector Rides reported that this would be likely to be a Council issue 
although the Police would work with the Council on issues such as identifying vehicles 
owners.  The Head of Policy and Organisational Development reported that the Council 
were looking at environmental issues strategically and mapping out interventions the 
Community Safety Partnership could contribute to.   
 
Councillor Judith Addison – Do we know how many fixed penalty notices for fly tipping the 
Council had received in the last 12 months and were the relatively small fines handed out 
enough to deter future offences.  The Head of Policy and Organisational Development 
reported that this was an operational issue and could feed through to the Task and Finish 
Group but was unable to provide an answer on these issues. 
 
Councillor Tim O’Kane – he referred to the PACT meetings and suggested that fewer 
people attending these meetings should not be a deterrent for having them.  He indicated 
that any information was valuable and residents would appreciate knowing that their 
concerns had been fed back to police at these meetings.  Inspector Rides clarified that he 
had been referring to the value of the meeting as opposed to the numbers turning up at the 
meetings.  He pointed out that Lancashire Talking would provide residents with a similar 
opportunity.  He also outlined other ways in which the Police had provided opportunities to 
communicate with the public.  
 
Councillor O’Kane referred to problems in communicating with Police using the Lancashire 
Talking forum in that data sharing was a problem and could be restrictive which could hold 
back feedback to the Police.  He asked how verification was made of suspects over 18 
years of age.  The Police Analyst referred to ways in which data was analysed and 
explained that questions of this type would have to be referred back to those carrying out 
analysis.    
 
The Chair referred to the importance of the presence of the Police and expressed concern 
that numbers of Police had not returned to previous levels and that any additional officers 
had been situated in other parts of the country.   
Inspector Rides referred to the distribution of new Officers directed to Lancashire and 
pointed out that this would be the responsibility of the Chief Constable and the PCC.   He 
pointed out that there would be an increase in Officers in East Division some of which 
covered Hyndburn and there would be an increase of those patrolling Hyndburn as well as 
carrying out other duties.     
 

Resolved (1) That the presentation and comments be noted; and    

 (2) That the Committee expressed their gratitude to the 
representatives from Lancashire Police, the Head of 
Policy and Organisational Development and Councillor 
Molineux for their attendance and contribution to the 
meeting. 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Page 94



 
 
 

 

 
5 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1 

 
CABINET COMMITTEE (STREET NAMING) 

 

 
Wednesday, 17th March, 2021 

 
Present:  
 
 

Councillor Loraine Cox (in the Chair),  
Councillors Munsif Dad BEM JP and Miles Parkinson OBE 
 

Apologies Patrick McGinley 

  

 
179 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declaration of Interest and Dispensations 

 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Patrick McGinley who 
attends the committee as an observer.  
 

180 Minutes of the Last Meeting(s) 
 

The Minutes of the Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) meeting held on the 24th 
February 2020 and 10th February 2021 were submitted for approval as a correct 
record. 
 
Resolved – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

181 Street Naming Proposal - Ribblesdale Avenue, Accrington 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report to seek approval 
for the naming of the following Streets for a new build residential development 
located off Ribblesdale Avenue, Accrington. 
 

 Bowler Avenue  

 Fields Avenue  
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson requested to rename the second street (Fields Way) to 
David Lloyd Way. Although this does go against the Council’s Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy which states not to name streets after living people.  There are 
numerous exceptional circumstances to justify the reason and to preserve the 
exclusivity of this kind of naming it needs to be applied sparingly. 
 
 
David Lloyd is already a Freedom of the Borough and this would be another great 
recognition to show him how proud the Council is of his service and cricketing years 
within the borough.  
 
Councillor Munsif Dad confirmed he supported the recommendation.  
 
Resolved – That the streets be named Bowler Avenue and David Lloyd Way.  
 

 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 97



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 98



 

 
1 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Wednesday, 24th March, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Eamonn Higgins (in the Chair), Councillors Dave Parkins (Vice 

Chair), Judith Addison, Jean Battle MBE, Stephen Button, Stewart Eaves, 
Abdul Khan, Paddy Short, Kate Walsh, Terry Hurn, June Harrison, 
Kath Pratt and Tim O'Kane 
 

Apologies: Councillors Melissa Fisher 

  

 
187 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 

An apology for absence was submitted for Councillor Melissa Fisher.  
Councillor Tim O’Kane attended as a substitute for Councillor Fisher.  
 

188 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 

The minutes of the last Planning Committee held on the 24th February 2021 were 
submitted for approval as a correct record.  
 
Resolved – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

189 Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report setting out 
recommended action on the following applications.  
 
Resolved – That the following planning application be approved, subject to 
the conditions recommended in the report.  
 
11/20/0318 – Whatmore, Altham Business Park, Altham  
 
NB.  1. This major application came back to committee as there had been a 

technical failure in February’s committee.  
  
 2. Members were keen to agree this application despite the Green 

Belt issue, it will be good for the area and create jobs.  
 
Resolved – That the following planning application be approved, subject to 
the conditions recommended in the report and S106 to be signed.  
 
11/20/0413 – The Cabin End Hotel, Windsor Road, Knuzden Brook, Oswaldtwistle, 
BB1 2DQ. 
 
NB  1. Members commented on the building being in a bad state of repair. 

This new housing estate will bring a fresh look to the area and there 
will be no shortage of people wanting to live there.  

Page 99



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 100



 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 01 July 2021 

REPORT AUTHOR: Julian Joinson, Head of Member Services 

TITLE OF REPORT: Motion for Debate at Council -  

1. Market Hall Rents 

 

EXEMPT REPORT:  No  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication: N/A 

 
The Council will be asked to consider the following motion submitted under Council 
Procedure Rule A9:- 
 
1. Market Hall Rents 
 
Trading is not back to normal in Accrington Town Centre, as restrictions on Covid-19 are 
being lifted across the country.  This is probably due to the relatively high incidence of 
COVID-19 in the Borough, which means residents continue to exercise caution.  
 
To alleviate problems for Market Hall traders and to help them get back on their feet the 
Conservative Group respectfully request that the Cabinet bring in a further 50% reduction in 
rents for the 6 month period July to December.  The cost of any lost income to be met from 
reserves. 
 
 
Proposer.  Councillor Marlene Haworth 
 
Seconder   Councillor Peter Britcliffe.  
 

Submitted on 23rd June 2021 
 
 
 
 

Page 101

Agenda Item 11.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4. Confirmation of Minutes
	7. Initial Proposal for the New Parliamentary Constituency Boundary Review 2023 for Hyndburn
	8. COVID-19 National Non Domestic Rates Reliefs for 2021/22
	9. Minutes of Cabinet
	Cabinet Minutes - 9th June 2021

	10. Minutes of Committees
	Judicial (PH & HC Licensing) Committee Minutes - 13th January 2021
	Planning Committee Minutes - 24th February 2021
	Communities & Wellbeing OSC Minutes - 17th March 2021
	Cabinet (Street Naming) Committee Minutes - 17th March 2021
	Minutes

	Planning Committee Minutes - 24th March 2021

	11. Motion(s) submitted on Notice

